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Approval of an Ordinance for Case Number SU-25-2-4-1 Requesting a Special Use 

and Variation Application for 501 Caton Farm Road 
 

 

Summary:   
 

Verde Engineering, on behalf of Hendrickson USA, LLC (the Applicant) appeared before the Plan 

Commission (PCZBA) on April 24, 2025, requesting a Special Use Permit and Variations for the 

construction and operation of a solar array for the property located at 501 Caton Farm Road.  

 

The project encompasses a 4.8-acre portion of the Applicant’s western parcel (PIN 11-04-33-100-002-

0000) to construct a solar array and an emergency vehicle only access road to assist emergency vehicles 

gaining access to this solar array if an emergency related event occurs. The power generated from the solar 

array will help generate electricity for the Hendrickson USA facility on the eastern parcel (PIN 11-04-33-

100-003-0000). After the Applicant presented the case to the PCZBA at the April 24, 2025, Special Plan 

Commission Meeting, the PCZBA made a favorable recommendation on the new Special Use Permit and 

Variation requests.  The presentation provided at the Plan Commission Meeting can be viewed by clicking 

on this link - https://cresthill-il.municodemeetings.com/bc-citycouncil/page/special-plan-commission-0  

 

The recommendation from the Plan Commission included the following 10 (ten) conditions: 

1. That the drawings submitted for a building permit shall be in substantial compliance with the drawings 

approved by City Council and identified below, unless otherwise noted in the remaining conditions: 

o Solar Ground Mount System Plans Engineered by PurePower Engineering last dated 

3/28/2025 

o Stormwater Management Permit Details Prepared by Hey and Associates Inc. Last Dated 

April 15, 2025 

o Structural Detail Drawings Created by DCE Solar Sheets 1 through 5 Last Dated 3/6/2025 

o Landscape Plans Created by Hey and Associates Inc. Last Dated 3/31/2025 

2. The gravel driveway and loading area in the front of the accessory building on the property with the 

Permanent Index Number of 11-04-33-100-002-0000 shall receive a permit to transition this surface 

material to an approved surface material to be in compliance with Zoning Ordinance Section 11.6-1 and 

follow applicable construction standards. This specific area includes the driveway entrance from Caton 

Farm Road leading to the accessory building as well as to the gates of the solar array area. This permit 

shall be issued before May 19, 2026.  

 

https://cresthill-il.municodemeetings.com/bc-citycouncil/page/special-plan-commission-0


City Council Work Session 

May 19, 2025 

501 Caton Farm Road  

 

3. The emergency access road containing the 3/4” limestone surface material shall be improved with a base 

material and construction method approved by the City Engineer. All details of the materials and 

construction methods shall be submitted with the building permit application for the solar array. 

4. The thickness of stone for the temporary construction access road should be at least two inches thick. 

5. Prior to permit issuance for the solar array the structural calculations report provided with through 

submittal will need to be signed and stamped by a Licensed Structural Engineer. 

6. A Fire Truck Turning Performance Analysis shall be provided for review and approval as part of the 

building permit application submittal for the solar array. 

7. If any new outdoor lighting is being proposed with this project, then a Photometric Plan shall be provided 

at time of submitting a building permit application to ensure compliance with applicable codes and 

regulations. 

8. All required final design drawings and related supporting project information shall be submitted for final 

engineering review and approval in conjunction with the formal building permit application submitted 

for the solar array.  

9. All new shade trees, ornamental trees, and evergreen trees proposed on north of the solar array shall be 

planted with a minimum height of six feet and a minimum of 2.5” caliber at time of planting.  

10. All conditions made with this Ordinance shall be transferred to any new property owner. 

 

May 12, 2025 City Council Work Session – At the May 12, 2025 City Council Work Session, there was a 

presentation made by the Applicant highlighting the project and a discussion about the proposed improvement. 

The presentation slides made at this meeting at provided as Attachment D. The non-binding voice vote from City 

Council resulted in a favorable recommendation to take this item to the May 19, 2025 Regular City Council 

Meeting for Ordinance consideration. 

 

Recommended Council Action: Community Development staff recommends that the City Council approve the 

Ordinance pertaining to Case Number SU-25-2-4-1 Requesting a Special Use and Variation Application for 501 

Caton Farm Road.   

Attachments: 

• Attachment A - Special Use and Variance Application 

• Attachment B - April 24, 2025 Special Plan Commission Meeting Transcript 

• Attachment C - Special Use Ordinance (with associated Exhibits) 

• Attachment D – Presentation Slides from the May 12, 2025 City Council Work Session 
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         CREST HILL PLAN COMMISSION

                APRIL 24, 2025

        REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had in the

above-entitled matter, at 20600 City Center

Boulevard, Crest Hill, Illinois, commencing at

7:00 o'clock p.m. on the 24th day of April, 2025.

BEFORE:

Bill Thomas, Chairman
John Stanton, Commissioner
Marty Flynn, Commissioner
Angelo DeSerio, Commissioner
Jeff Peterson, Commissioner
Ken Carroll, Commissioner
Cheryl Slabozeski, Commissioner
Patrick Answorth, Community/Economic Development
Director
Samantha Tilley, Executive Secretary
Mike Stiff, City Attorney

PRESENT:

Chris Batsch, Hendrickson USA LLC
Grace Rasmussen, Verde Solutions

                 *  *  *  *  *
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1          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  Welcome.  I
2 would like to call the April 24th, 2025 Special
3 Plan Commission Meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.
4          If you're able, please rise for the
5 Pledge of Allegiance.
6          (Pledge of Allegiance.)
7          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Thank you.  May we have
8 the roll call, please?
9          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Bill Thomas?

10          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Here.
11          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Ken Carroll?
12          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  Here.
13          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Cheryl Slabozeski?
14          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Here.
15          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Angelo DeSerio?
16          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  Here.
17          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Jeff Peterson?
18          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  Here.
19          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Marty Flynn?
20          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  Here.
21          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  John Stanton?
22          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  Here.
23          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  Thank you.
24          First order of business is to approve the
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1 minutes from our previous two meetings.  Can I
2 have a motion, please, to approve the minutes from
3 the Plan Commission meeting held on
4 March 13th, 2025?
5          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  So moved.
6          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Motion by Angelo
7 DeSerio and --
8          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  Second.
9          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  -- Commissioner

10 Peterson.
11          A roll call, please.
12          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Angelo DeSerio?
13          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  Yes.
14          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Jeff Peterson?
15          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  Yes.
16          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Marty Flynn?
17          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  Yes.
18          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  John Stanton?
19          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  Yes.
20          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Ken Carroll?
21          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  Yes.
22          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Cheryl Slabozeski?
23          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Yes.
24          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  And Bill Thomas?



GEORGE E. RYDMAN & ASSOC., JOLIET, IL. (815) 727-4363

Page 4

1          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Yes.
2          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Motion carried.
3          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  And now can I have a
4 motion to approve the minutes from the Plan
5 Commission Meeting held on March 27, 2025?  Was
6 that a special?
7          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Yes.
8          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Better put special on
9 the title there.  Special Plan Commission Meeting.

10          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  So moved.
11          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Motion by Commissioner
12 Carroll.
13          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  Second.
14          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Second by Commissioner
15 Peterson.
16          Roll call, please.
17          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Ken Carroll?
18          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  Yes.
19          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Jeff Peterson?
20          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  Yes.
21          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  Yes.
22          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Marty Flynn?
23          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  Yes.
24          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  John Stanton?
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1          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  Yes.
2          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Cheryl Slabozeski?
3          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Abstain.
4          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Angelo DeSerio?
5          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  Yes.
6          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  And Bill Thomas?
7          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Yes.
8          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Motion carried.
9          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  Next item is new

10 business.  We have one case on the agenda for
11 tonight, a public hearing and consideration of
12 Case SU-25-2-4-1, a request of Hendrickson USA LLC
13 seeking approval for a special use permit and
14 variations for a new solar array, which is
15 classified as a utility facility under the Crest
16 Hill Zoning Ordinance on a 4.8-acre area of land
17 in an M-2 general manufacturing district located
18 at 501 Caton Farm Road in Crest Hill, Illinois.
19          Samantha, is all the paperwork in order?
20          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  The necessary paperwork
21 is in order.
22          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  Thank you.
23          Then I would like to have a motion to
24 open the public hearing for Case SU-25-2-4-1.
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1          Motion, please.
2          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  So moved.
3          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Motion by Commissioner
4 DeSerio.
5          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Second.
6          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Second by Commissioner
7 Slabozeski.
8          Roll call, please.
9          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Angelo DeSerio?

10          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  Yes.
11          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Cheryl Slabozeski?
12          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Yes.
13          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Ken Carroll?
14          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  Yes.
15          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  John Stanton?
16          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  Yes.
17          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Jeff Peterson?
18          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  Yes.
19          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Marty Flynn?
20          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  Yes.
21          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  And Bill Thomas?
22          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Yes.
23          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Motion carried.
24          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Public hearing is
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1 opened at 7:03 p.m.
2          Again, this hearing is to discuss case
3 SU-25-2-4-1.  So I would now like to ask our
4 Community and Economic Development Director Pat
5 Answorth to present the specifics of the case.
6          MR. ANSWORTH:  Thank you, Chairman.
7          Can you hear me okay?  Okay.  I'll be
8 actually brief.
9          The petitioner has prepared a very

10 thorough presentation, but, as presented tonight,
11 there's one special use and one variation from the
12 zoning ordinance and a deviation from the City
13 code for the driveway.
14          The subject property actually consists of
15 two pins, there's the manufacturing facility on
16 the eastern pin, which the subject -- the
17 applicant has been at that subject site for nearly
18 50 years.  They have committed to investing in
19 this property and including alternative energy,
20 hence the solar array on the western site, and
21 part of their grant -- part of their application
22 mentioned that the -- part of a grant from the
23 state of Illinois, so this will actually help
24 power their -- all their facilities for their



GEORGE E. RYDMAN & ASSOC., JOLIET, IL. (815) 727-4363

Page 8

1 annual needs.  It's approximately 1. -- I think --
2 8 megawatts of power.  So hence that size creates
3 a unique size of this project.  Our community and
4 economic development consultant, Ron Mentzer, was
5 working with them before my tenure and determined
6 it was a special use.  As part of that special use
7 process we looked at the entire site and were kind
8 of working with them on their driveway on the
9 eastern pin, it exceeds 30 feet, so if they ever

10 go to repave that property, tonight's applications
11 kind of protect that driveway, they can just go
12 straight to permit, and hence that's the, again,
13 deviation being requested.
14          The other variation is we were working
15 closely with the Lockport Fire Protection
16 District.  This is, again, a unique circumstance.
17 We do not have a solar array of this size, so,
18 from a life-saving perspective, even though this
19 is an unmanned area, our Fire Protection District
20 thought it would be necessary to gain access to
21 this property, but because this area is just north
22 of a wet -- of a floodplain area and they're not
23 required to do any storm water detention, we
24 worked with them carefully to craft a design of
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1 this road that you'll see in the site plan later
2 tonight of limestone -- it's a three quarter stone
3 lined with limestone material.  Our City engineer
4 was closely working with their engineering firm
5 and the Fire Protection District to create that.
6 Our City code requires driveways, drive aisles,
7 parking areas to be paved.  Storage areas for
8 heavy equipment can be gravel.  So this an
9 emergency vehicle only access road.  It's tucked

10 180 feet back from Caton Farm Road.  It's tucked
11 behind a landscaped area, and then it will be
12 further protected by additional landscaping that
13 you'll see on the landscape plans.
14          So the variation is for the material
15 itself, but because this is a locked facility,
16 fenced facility and just for the Lockport Fire
17 Protection District, and perhaps some maintenance
18 down the road, Staff is supportive of the unique
19 circumstance to grant that variation.
20          As you can see on pages 3, there's a
21 (inaudible) regulation analysis for the zoning
22 ordinance.  I'm not going to go through all of it,
23 but they're in compliance except for the gravel
24 material -- the limestone material, and then in
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1 compliance with the comprehensive plan there was
2 an analysis on page 4, and then, finally, with
3 Staff support, there is ten conditions that I
4 don't want to read, but if you need me to, I can,
5 just to make sure that we help this development
6 maintain a high level of standards and design.
7 And I'm happy to answer any questions if you so
8 have any.
9          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Any questions for Pat

10 at this time?
11          Okay.  Thank you, Pat.
12          Okay.  So I guess we're going to start
13 off with Chris from Hendrickson --
14          CHRIS BATSCH:  Yes.
15          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  -- USA LLC.
16          Are you going to sit there or...
17          CHRIS BATSCH:  That would be preferred.
18          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  That's fine.  If you
19 could just stand enough to raise your right hand.
20          CHRIS BATSCH:  Okay.
21          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  In fact, why don't you
22 both stand?  I'll swear you both in and then we
23 won't have to go through that again.
24
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1    (Chris Batsch and Grace Rasmussen duly sworn.)
2          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  Thank you.
3          Take it away, Chris.
4          CHRIS BATSCH:  All right.
5          Good evening, everybody, and thank you
6 for hosting this event, for scheduling the kind of
7 special meeting for us to get together and talk
8 about this.
9          My name is Chris Batsch.  I'm the general

10 manager at Hendrickson Bumper, almost right across
11 the road from you guys here in Crest Hill.  I have
12 been with Hendrickson for about 15 years.  I have
13 been at the bumper division here in Crest Hill for
14 almost three years.  I did want to start off just
15 with a brief overview of Hendrickson, and I know
16 most in the room probably aren't very familiar
17 with what Hendrickson does, and a little bit of
18 background, and then I'll turn it over to Grace
19 from Verde Solutions who is the solar installer to
20 give a little bit more detail.
21             Just to kind of give a quick overview.
22    Hendrickson is a corporate company.  We have
23    been around for about 100 years.  We have
24    always been focused on the truck industry.  We
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1    actually started off at the beginning
2    manufacturing trucks for the trucking
3    industry, and then eventually we evolved into
4    focusing more on part -- part or sub-system
5    supply to the heavy truck industry.  Our main
6    focus is suspension, axles, trailer axles,
7    leaf springs, blast (inaudible) components,
8    and probably, to my team in the room, most
9    importantly the bumpers, which is what's made

10    right down the road.
11             A little quick overview of the
12    company.  So the company is family owned.  We
13    are privately held.  So it -- we do keep most
14    of our information pretty close to our vests,
15    so if there are questions regarding the
16    company, we'll try to answer it as best as we
17    can.  We are owned by the Boler company, which
18    is a family-owned company.  They're
19    structured -- or headquartered up in
20    Schaumburg, Illinois.  Globally we have about
21    6,000 employees, about 30-plus locations
22    worldwide.  Most of the locations that we have
23    within our facilities are there to provide
24    in-country manufacturing and supply to our
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1    customers.  So if you look at what Hendrickson
2    USA mainly does, we export more than we import
3    from that perspective.  We have six brands
4    across all of our divisions.  Several of these
5    brands actually supply components within
6    Hendrickson.  So I realize that it's a little
7    bit of a complicated structure for the
8    company, but just want to give a little
9    background regarding the whole company as a

10    whole.
11          Jumping into our division that's at the
12    Crest Hill facility.  We are the Hendrickson
13    bumper division.  So we have about 150,000
14    square feet, and that's divided over two
15    facilities.  We have Crest Hill and a facility
16    in Dayton, Ohio.  The Dayton, Ohio facility is
17    primarily just a distribution center, so parts
18    go in and out of that facility, there's not
19    any manufacturing.  All of the manufacturing
20    that we do is here at the Crest Hill facility.
21    We currently run -- excuse me.  Here in Crest
22    Hill we currently run a two shift operation.
23    We have about 90 people on staff between those
24    two shifts.  Majority of our staff is on the
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1    first shift.
2          I think Patrick kind of alluded to that
3    Hendrickson has been a part of the community
4    for a very long time, close to 50 years.  The
5    Hendrickson company acquired that facility
6    back in 1977, so we have been embedded into
7    Crest Hill since 1977.  We have all the
8    functional support functions within that
9    facility.  We do not rely on our corporate

10    divisions for most of our day-to-day
11    activities, so we do have operations,
12    engineering, quality, marketing, all of those
13    aspects that are under one roof.  We are a
14    Tier 1 supplier to most of the OEMs, and I'll
15    jump into a little bit more detail to shed a
16    little bit more light on kind of what kind of
17    products that we do and what our specialty is.
18    We do make about 100,000 bumpers a year.  If
19    you're familiar with the Class A industry or
20    the heavy truck industry it's anywhere from
21    250- to 300,000 trucks that are made a year
22    just to put that in perspective.
23          The core values at our facility.  No. 1
24    priority is safety, No. 2 is quality, and then
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1    innovation.  When we look at the competitive
2    market of the bumper field, we are leading the
3    way in innovation, and the next step for us is
4    from a sustainability aspect, which is why
5    we're here today.
6          We do hold several certifications within
7    this facility.  IATF, which is a quality
8    process control standard that we do hold, that
9    is the highest level for our industry.

10    ISO 14001, that is an environmental standard
11    that we are certified to.  VPP Star
12    certification.  This is an OSHA funded program
13    or an OSHA provided program.  We are the only
14    manufacturer within North America that is --
15    that has been awarded this certification.
16    This certification is for companies that go
17    above and beyond the minimum standards for
18    safety, and we -- we -- sorry, for safety and
19    proactive things that we do towards the safety
20    of the employees.  The last one that we have
21    is Great Places to Work certified.  This is
22    another one that we just recently got.  This
23    involves the culture of -- and the voice of
24    the employees.  So we currently are the only
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1    company within Crest Hill that has that
2    certification.  And I forgot to add, for the
3    VPP OSHA, we are also the only company in
4    Crest Hill that has obtained that
5    certification.
6             I won't go through all the details of
7    what we do.  The equipment that we have on
8    site, there's a lot of equipment, a lot of big
9    equipment that we have behind those walls at

10    our facility, most of it for stamping and
11    forming operations of bumpers.  The big
12    takeaway of what we have here, every single
13    one of these pieces of equipment requires a
14    massive amount of electricity.  These are
15    energy hogs.  There's -- even though we are
16    investing in bringing them up to the latest
17    technology, they still require a lot of energy
18    to take big pieces of metal and form them into
19    the shape of bumpers for our customers.
20             Just to give a you little -- I guess a
21    snapshot of what we do.  All of these products
22    that you see on the screen are just a little
23    bit of a sample of what we manufacture out of
24    that facility.  We do anything from school
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1    buses to garbage trucks to cement trucks to on
2    the highway.  We -- pretty much if it's a
3    metal bumper that's out there on the road,
4    most likely we manufactured it here at that
5    facility.  We do a variety of finishes.  Most
6    of these are customer spec driven, but we --
7    we do a lot of bumpers that go through the
8    facility.
9             The main reason what prompted this

10    project was driven by the customers.
11    Hendrickson has a lot of internal
12    sustainability goals, but our customers are
13    even more demanding than what we initially
14    started off with our sustainability goals.  In
15    the last five years several customers have
16    taken the requirement that the companies have
17    to have advancement in sustainability and
18    targets towards carbon neutral to be able to
19    be awarded new business.  So this is something
20    that we made a commitment to our customers
21    that we would -- we would go after and pursue.
22          As I mentioned, a lot of our equipment is
23    electric driven; the presses, the robots, the
24    laser cutters, all of that is -- is utilizing
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1    electricity.  So our biggest opportunity for
2    the next step towards carbon neutrality is
3    electricity.  So that's the main reason why we
4    wanted to go after the solar.
5             So back in 2002 -- or, sorry, 2022 we
6    created this five-year major investment plan
7    that we presented to the board of directors.
8    A lot of this involves new equipment, but it
9    also aligns with the sustainability goals of

10    the customers.  All of this with the intent of
11    maintaining our position here in Crest Hill
12    and growing our business here across the
13    industry.  So, as a result of what we put
14    together, including our commitment to our
15    customers that we were going to install a
16    solar, we're currently facing about a 50
17    percent growth for that facility.  If you go
18    back and you look at the history of the
19    facility, the facility has not seen that level
20    of growth ever since we started that business.
21    So we are in -- on the brink of a very massive
22    growth plan that we are going through and
23    executing.  All of this is a result of all the
24    investment that we put forward, the
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1    sustainability aspects, and the customers and
2    in alliance with our customers' goals.
3             Just a little bit about some of the
4    recent investments that were included in this
5    five year plan.
6          High tonnage deep draw presses.  For
7    those of you -- I definitely welcome anybody
8    to come by and stop in for a tour.  The
9    equipment that we have are just massive pieces

10    of machine.  Most of the press beds that we
11    have can fit a full size car inside the press
12    beds.  So the full size equipment is 20, 30
13    feet tall, a couple hundred thousand pounds,
14    so we're talking about very big equipment that
15    uses a lot of electricity.  We completed the
16    building expansion, some of you may or may not
17    be aware of that, on the backside of the
18    building that we were able to increase our
19    capacity.  We added in a fiber high speed
20    laser that was recently commissioned.  We have
21    another deep draw press that's currently being
22    installed within the next couple months, a
23    robotic buffing cell, and the last piece of
24    this equation for what we're working on right
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1    now is the solar field.
2          So the result of all of these is not only
3    increasing our capabilities, but it's also
4    increasing our sustainability.  We're trying
5    to maintain our leader -- our leader position
6    within the bumper industry and this is only
7    going to further separate us from our
8    competition and drive more business towards
9    our facility.

10          I wanted to talk a little bit about the
11    selection process here with Verde just to kind
12    of give you guys a little bit of reassurance
13    that we did do our due diligence, that this
14    wasn't something that we picked out of the
15    back of the Yellow Pages, we actually went
16    through a fairly -- fairly thorough vetting
17    process.
18          We started off with four major solar
19    installers that do commercial solar
20    installation here within the Chicagoland.  We
21    established several requirements; engineering
22    and installation to be a one-stop shop.
23    Surprisingly, as we learned, that's pretty
24    rare within the solar industry.  There's not
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1    many companies that do these together.  Most
2    of them outsource one or the other.  We wanted
3    one person to be able to call if there's a
4    problem with the engineering, the
5    installation, the service, the warranty,
6    everything all in one spot.  We wanted
7    somebody local that was within 100 miles that
8    could be on site as needed.  We also wanted to
9    demonstrate local performance.  I think Grace

10    will touch on a few of those in her
11    presentation that she'll share with you.  We
12    went out to some of these locations, spoke to
13    the installation team, some of these are
14    cities that develop some of these that Grace
15    will talk through.  We also needed help with
16    the incentives.  If you're not in the solar
17    industry, it's a little daunting to go through
18    all of the -- the different -- the building
19    permits, the incentives, all the requirements
20    to be able to meet those.  And also subject
21    matter knowledge.  Not just with the solar,
22    but also all the other aspects that come along
23    with it.  For example, Patrick referenced the
24    fire code and what is the requirements for



GEORGE E. RYDMAN & ASSOC., JOLIET, IL. (815) 727-4363

Page 22

1    those.  We wanted people with those expertise.
2          When we got through all of the RFQs, we
3    found that Verde was the only company that
4    checked all those boxes, and they were -- and
5    they were very well reputable in all of them,
6    so that's why we decided to select Verde.
7             So as we pulled together the business
8    case, we presented to our board of directors.
9    As we have progressed this, it has been almost

10    eight months since we presented the solar
11    field to the Board of Directors and received
12    their approval.  We have been trying to make
13    sure that we meet the timing that we committed
14    to on the Board of Directors.  A lot of this
15    is tied to very tight timing on the solar
16    incentives, whether it's state, federal,
17    there's a wide range.  I think also a utility
18    one.  A lot of these have pretty strict
19    timelines, and as time progresses these are
20    not linear events, they are flip events for
21    the amount of funding that changes at certain
22    time periods.
23          So really what we wanted to stress to
24    this -- to this group here is the balance of
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1    everything that we tied together with the
2    investment cost, the timing, the incentives,
3    the payback, all of that was factored into
4    this, so we definitely appreciate you guys
5    taking this time to meet with us under this
6    circumstance.
7             So, in summary, before I turn it over
8    to Grace, Hendrickson is dedicated to
9    advancing our manufacturing technology and

10    sustainability.  We know that this will be the
11    next step to put us completely at the leader
12    board for our industry, for where we're
13    looking to go long term.  We're also dedicated
14    to investing into Crest Hill.  The amount of
15    money that has been dumped into this facility
16    is probably equivalent in the -- within the
17    last three or four years is equivalent to the
18    last 15 years prior.  So the -- the Boler
19    family, the Hendrickson company is dedicated
20    to adding jobs here within Crest Hill, making
21    major investments and advancing our
22    technology.
23          The last thing, just as we advance this
24    technology and sustainability, we have full
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1    confidence this is only going to further grow
2    our business and bring more jobs to the
3    community.
4          So, with that, any questions for me
5    regarding Hendrickson before Grace kind of
6    steps in?
7          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  I'm just kind of
8 curious, with all this talk going around these
9 days about tariffs and you relying on export

10 business so much, how does any of that affect your
11 business?
12          MR. BATSCH:  At the corporate level it
13 definitely does.  That's more of an impact.  Our
14 division, the bumper division, 98 percent of ours
15 is picked up by U.S. based customers.  So we are
16 not faced with the tariffs as much, which
17 definitely puts us in a greater position versus
18 our competitors that are outsourcing a lot of
19 these, whether it's the paint or the chrome
20 process or things like that that are being
21 outsourced across the borders.
22          So, from our standpoint, we are very well
23 positioned from the tariff aspect because all of
24 our processes are here in the U.S., and then all
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1 of our customers are also here in the U.S.,
2 they're U.S. based customers.  So, great question,
3 but we think the impact is going to be very
4 minimal to us.  If anything, it's going to be
5 favorable to Hendrickson.
6          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  Thank you.
7          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  I'm just
8 curious what the cost savings would be by using
9 solar panels.

10          CHRIS BATSCH:  Being that -- I don't
11 think I can share that number.
12          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Okay.
13          CHRIS BATSCH:  Being a privately held
14 company with the amount of -- the amount of
15 electricity that we're going to be saving, yeah,
16 unfortunately I can't share that.
17          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Okay.
18          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  Grace?
19          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  I have a couple
20 questions.
21          It's a fantastic project and I'm excited
22 that we're having a solar panel farm.  Reading
23 through this report on page 30 regarding system
24 removal, not that you have any plans on removing
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1 it, but technology has been moving over time,
2 especially renewable energy --
3          MR. BATSCH:  Sure.
4          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  However, atomic
5 energy is still in development --
6          MR. BATSCH:  Absolutely.
7          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  And they can claim
8 that that is more energy efficient than the
9 renewable energy that is put out there, but my

10 concern with this regarding the system removal, it
11 says "during the system removal Verde will remove
12 all tangible property relating to the solar
13 system.  The land will be restored to it's
14 original condition with the exception of buried
15 conduit."
16          Well, I don't like buried conduit.  I'm
17 sure there's a lot of conduits underneath --
18          CHRIS BATSCH:  Sure.
19          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  -- and I'm sure
20 using at least one inch piping or more, and that's
21 not good.  It needs to be included to be removed.
22          CHRIS BATSCH:  Sure.  Yeah.
23          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  For future
24 development in case if someone wants to do
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1 excavation or do some development, you know, after
2 it's being removed.  Not that you have any plans
3 to, but it should be removed.
4          CHRIS BATSCH:  Understood.  I think
5 that's acceptable to include in.  From our
6 perspective, the solar disposal technology
7 continues to evolve almost on the daily basis on
8 what type of recyclability, that's why I think it
9 was difficult for us to really put together a plan

10 of what that would look like from a removal, a
11 disposal and the recyclability.  We don't know
12 where this is going to -- what kind of technology
13 is going to be out there from the solar and, to
14 your point, maybe it's atomic that might be able
15 to evolve into a different -- a different use case
16 for that land.
17          From our side, I know Hendrickson, based
18 off of everything that we do, we typically go
19 after what is the most sustainable or
20 environmentally friendly option, and that is
21 everly changing from a day-to-day perspective.  I
22 know Grace will touch on this a little bit, you
23 know, we will be working with Grace during the
24 terms of the warranty period and probably even
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1 beyond that.  So who knows what kind of technology
2 that Verde will have access to in 30 years, if we
3 even need to replace it at that time.
4          MS. RASMUSSEN:  Yeah, just to add, the
5 solar panels are warrantyed for 30 years, so I
6 guess we'll have to see what happens in 30 years
7 and what Hendrickson wants to do.  The solar
8 panels will continue to produce long after that,
9 it's just outside of the warranty, but, yeah, I

10 guess that's one bridge we'll cross when we get
11 there, but we will note the conduit removal.
12          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  Okay.  Okay.  And
13 my next concern is the impervious gravel system.
14 There's -- people say that it's -- gravel while
15 it's -- what have you, is not impervious -- or it
16 is impervious, it's not pervious.  Only because
17 over time gravel, stone, and what have you, settle
18 and it collects dirt, et cetera.  So you would
19 have more and more runoff -- water runoff over a
20 period of time.  Maybe you should investigate a
21 pervious draining system.  I'm sure there's many
22 of them out there.  I'm not too comfortable with
23 the gravel because you -- you do have equipment
24 driving on there.  I would imagine the fire trucks
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1 and what have you, if it's not compacted enough,
2 how is that going to support the trucks?
3          CHRIS BATSCH:  Sure.
4          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  Okay.  And in any
5 event that they have to go and take the -- you
6 know, take out the fire, I'm not quite sure if the
7 gravel -- three quarter inch gravel system works
8 unless you -- you have a system in path that it's
9 going to work for 30 or more years.

10          PATRICK ANSWORTH:  I'm going to chime in
11 if that's okay.
12          So our City engineer was in on the same
13 meeting with Grace and her team as well as the
14 Fire Protection District.  There is an
15 underlayment that will be approved.  There's a
16 condition in here that will be approved as part of
17 the construction of this, and our City engineer
18 advised during this time to make sure that it's
19 compacted, but not too compacted to become
20 impervious to then require detention.  If
21 detention was -- if impervious surfaces were going
22 to be mandated here, that would have triggered
23 detention requirements and made -- or not make
24 this project financially feasible.
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1          So you have our City engineer, with a lot
2 of experience, with the Fire Protection District,
3 with the Verde team designing this project as the
4 best alternative and the best scenario for the
5 presentation.
6          CHRIS BATSCH:  Yeah.  From our side we're
7 definitely open to that.  The reason why that
8 proposal does include that is, as Patrick stated,
9 was recommended from the --

10          PATRICK ANSWORTH:  City engineer.
11          CHRIS BATSCH:  -- one of the City
12 engineers.
13          From our side we also acknowledge that we
14 will need to maintain that road, so it's not put
15 it down once and let it go.  This is one that we
16 will have to repeatedly, whether it's regrade, we
17 may have to resurface the gravel as well as the
18 three quarter inch loosely compacted that was
19 specified.  So there will be maintenance required.
20 From our side I think that will be something that
21 we would work with the fire marshall to understand
22 that there is a point of degradation or any type
23 of concern from being able to support the weight
24 of the truck.  Ultimately we hope the road never
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1 gets used.
2          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  Okay.  Well, I
3 have to believe that there are a pervious system,
4 like there's pavers where grass grows through it
5 and it supports the vehicles and what have you,
6 and you will need to cut lawn, anyway, around the
7 solar panels, so I would think it would be a less
8 of a maintenance.  Yeah, it might be a little more
9 cost up front, but not as expensive as a pavement

10 like concrete or asphalt or what have you to
11 eliminate the detention pond and to minimize the
12 water runoff, but I think there is a better
13 system, maybe it needs a little more
14 investigation, what's appropriate.  Yes, the cost
15 is a factor in this, but I would like to see if
16 you can look into another alternative to a gravel
17 road.
18          CHRIS BATSCH:  I think we would be more
19 than happy to investigate anything that's
20 recommended by the City.  I think the City
21 engineers probably have much more experience from
22 that aspect than we do.  If you need a bumper we
23 can help you, but we're not very good at designing
24 gravel roads, but we were -- we would be more than
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1 happy to entertain or quote anything that we
2 looked at.
3          One thing to keep in mind, we are talking
4 about a rather extensive amount of property that
5 we would have to put this down.  I think the total
6 size is over four acres.  I think it was 30,
7 33,000 -- how many feet all the way around?
8          UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  40-something
9 thousand.

10          CHRIS BATSCH:  40 thousand square feet.
11          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  That's quite a
12 bit.
13          CHRIS BATSCH:  So it's a massive amount.
14 And, as Grace will point out, the other thing that
15 we have to consider is also turnaround points for
16 the fire trucks.  So it's not just a ten-foot
17 wide, the fire truck has to be able to swing the
18 entire ladder around it, which made about
19 20 percent more road surface that would be
20 required out there.
21          So, from our perspective, we would
22 definitely entertain and quote anything that was
23 recommended as alternatives to that.
24          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  I'm sure you guys
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1 have a solution for it and looking forward to, you
2 know, to make it work.  Just my request to take a
3 little more -- you know, scrutinize it a little
4 more --
5          CHRIS BATSCH:  Sure.
6          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  -- so it doesn't
7 become a thorn in your gut --
8          CHRIS BATSCH:  Absolutely.
9          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  -- as issues come

10 up later on, so...
11          CHRIS BATSCH:  Thank you.
12          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Anybody else?
13          Okay.  Grace.
14          MS. RASMUSSEN:  Okay.  Thank you.
15          So this is a little bit more about Verde
16 Solutions.  We were founded in 2012.  We're based
17 out of Chicago downtown.  Really we have done over
18 2,000 energy projects in 48 states.  We have
19 in-house NABCEP certified, that's a solar
20 certification, and OSHA certification as well, and
21 then the biggest selling point for us is that we
22 do turn-key project delivery.  So as soon as our
23 clients sign the contract, we handle it all the
24 way until the system is turned on, and then we
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1 also provide post solar support once it is
2 energized.  And, as Chris mentioned to you, our
3 install team is in-house, which, like he said, is
4 rare in Chicago.
5             Here are some examples of similarly
6    completed projects.  So we did one for Thelen
7    Sand and Gravel out in Lakemoor, this was at a
8    gravel pit.  We did one for Minooka Waste
9    Water Treatment Plant butting up against the

10    residential neighborhood there, and then we
11    also had some landscaping and fencing required
12    you can see here.  And then we also completed
13    the College of Lake County up in Grayslake.
14    This was a 13 roof system in addition to a
15    megawatt ground mount system.
16             Here is the plat of survey for
17    Hendrickson.  As Patrick noted, here is the --
18    here is one pin where the main facility is
19    located and then the other pin where the solar
20    field will be located.
21             Here is the current site.  This
22    picture was taken October 10th, 2024 from our
23    satellite software.  There are some trees here
24    that have since been cleared, and then if you
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1    remember this reference Point A, we have some
2    pictures here, so looking west from the gate
3    you can see it's an open field, and then
4    looking north to Caton Farm Road there's
5    already a screening of trees on the road.
6             So our wetland study partner
7    identified a wetland south of the pin where
8    our solar is proposed, and so they actually
9    performed the wetland study on Tuesday, and so

10    we're just awaiting the results.  The reason
11    we had to wait was just seasonal reasons.  And
12    then we do have a note that the solar array
13    location is contingent on the final wetland
14    study results.  So we will move the array as
15    needed based on the results.
16             Here is the proposed design.  The blue
17    is the solar panels, and so we have about --
18    just under 2,000 modules proposed, expected to
19    produce 1.5 million kilowatt hours each year.
20    And then, like Chris said, offsetting 100
21    percent of Hendrickson's electricity usage.
22    So here is an example of what the solar would
23    look like installed.
24             Here is the overall electrical plan.
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1    Some things to note is there will be a fence
2    connecting the west fence line and the east
3    fence line, and then the gravel access path
4    that we discussed has the turnaround points
5    around the perimeter of the array, and then
6    there's also a south fence line boundary.
7             This is zoomed in a little bit more.
8             Here is a racking elevation.  So the
9    panels are tilted at 30 degrees to the south,

10    and there's about 19 feet in between each row,
11    and there are two modules stacked on each row.
12             Here is an elevation of the typical
13    fence details.  So the access gate will be 16
14    feet wide based on the Lockport Fire
15    Protection District advice, and then the
16    general fence will be six feet tall with one
17    foot of barbed wire.
18             Here is a drainage plan.  I have
19    highlighted the drainage area and the average
20    ground slope is 2.15 percent under the solar
21    array.
22             Here is a clip of the landscaping
23    proposed.  So we have about 216 new plants as
24    required by the ordinance, and so you can see
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1    a lot of them are focused towards the north
2    further screening the array from Caton Farm
3    Road.  And then a handful of plants and
4    shrubs -- trees and shrubs on the south
5    portion of the facility.  And then underneath
6    the array will be a solar pollinator friendly
7    mix -- seed mix.
8             Here is an elevation of the trees and
9    shrubs.  Here is a list of the 216 new

10    plantings, so we have 97 -- or, sorry, we have
11    168 new trees proposed and 48 shrubs.
12          Here is a list of the solar field
13    pollinator habitat seed mix and then the salt
14    tolerant road side mix (inaudible) mix.
15             And here are some images of all of the
16    plants and shrubs -- and trees are on the next
17    slide -- that are proposed.
18          And then the gravel access path.  Here is
19    a cut sheet -- or an elevation view of the
20    three quarter inch limestone gravel loosely
21    compacted with a subgrade fabric.  Here is a
22    snip showing we did measure and take into
23    account the truck turnaround radius and then
24    just a general plan of the gravel access path
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1    as well.
2             Any questions?  I have kind of flipped
3    through everything really quickly.  We can go
4    back and zoom in and --
5          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  So did you say you're
6 going to keep all of the existing trees there
7 along Caton Farm Road?
8          MS. RASMUSSEN:  Yep.  And then we have to
9 add 216 based on the developed area.

10          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  And are you getting all
11 those trees locally from one of our wonderful
12 Crest Hill nurseries?
13          MS. RASMUSSEN:  We definitely can, yeah.
14          CHRIS BATSCH:  Absolutely.
15          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  I was surprised when I
16 drove by there how -- what -- already what a tree
17 barrier that exists.  There are a lot of trees
18 along Caton Farm Road, so...
19          CHRIS BATSCH:  Yeah.  Yeah.
20          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  And your access road
21 that you have been talking about actually now
22 comes off of your property, not off of Caton Farm
23 Road, correct?
24          CHRIS BATSCH:  That is correct.
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1          MS. RASMUSSEN:  The access to the solar
2 field, yes.
3          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Yeah.  Okay.
4          CHRIS BATSCH:  If you look at the slope
5 coming off of Caton Farm Road it's rather steep.
6 That would require a substantial amount of buildup
7 to be able to get access.
8          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  And it would open up a
9 window also, which --

10          CHRIS BATSCH:  Yes.  That is correct.
11          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  It's out of sight.
12          No, it looks very well thought out.
13          Okay.  Anybody have any questions -- any
14 more questions?
15          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  I just have one.
16 What is underneath the panel?  Is that going to be
17 gravel or grass?
18          MS. RASMUSSEN:  It's going to be grass
19 and that pollinator friendly seed mix.
20          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  Okay.
21          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  What do we
22 think?
23          Does Staff have any more questions before
24 we --
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1          PATRICK ANSWORTH:  Just to go back on the
2 access road.  Again, this is the best compromise
3 based on the cost, the regular requirements,
4 there's not only our ordinance, but Will County
5 that was conferred against with our City engineer
6 who worked very closely with the Verde engineering
7 team and, again, Staff makes a positive
8 recommendation based on the conditions provided
9 and the designs that you have seen tonight.

10          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Mm-hmm.  Yeah.  I take
11 a lot of confidence that our engineer and the
12 Lockport Township Fire Department has reviewed
13 that in detail, the -- to Commissioner Stanton's
14 concerns about the material being used, that they
15 felt pretty good to start off with that the way it
16 is and, to your point, let's hope they never have
17 to use it.  It's not like it's going to be a high
18 traffic area, but if they have to, we certainly
19 don't want them to get stuck and not be able to
20 get to where they need to go around there.  So I
21 think we have to kind of trust their judgment to
22 that.
23          CHRIS BATSCH:  Yeah.  We did host the
24 fire marshall there on site, so we walked the
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1 grounds, took a look at everything, where the
2 turning points would be, roughly where the solar
3 field will lay out.  We'll continue that
4 relationship with him as we finish it and as well
5 as annual inspections to get out there.  We
6 understand this is new for them, it's new for us,
7 it's new for the City, so the more that we can
8 communicate and open the door for coming out there
9 to do it, whether they want to do training access,

10 whatever, they'll have full access to that.
11          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  Are we good?
12 Any more questions?  And looking around the
13 audience, unless my wife wants to say something, I
14 don't see anybody else here that is not part of
15 Hendrickson, so I just have to ask:  Is there
16 anyone in the audience that wants to come forward
17 and make a comment or a question on this
18 particular case?  And I see none.
19          So if there are no more questions as part
20 of the public hearing, I think I would like to ask
21 for a motion to close the public hearing.
22          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  I'll make that
23 motion.
24          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Motion by Commissioner
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1 Peterson.
2          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  I'll second it.
3          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Second by Commissioner
4 Flynn.
5          Roll call, please.
6          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Jeff Peterson?
7          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  Yes.
8          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Marty Flynn?
9          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  Yes.

10          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  John Stanton?
11          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  Yes.
12          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Ken Carroll?
13          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  Yes.
14          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Cheryl Slabozeski?
15          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Yes.
16          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Angelo DeSerio?
17          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  Yes.
18          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  And Bill Thomas?
19          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Yes.
20          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Motion carried.
21          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  The public hearing is
22 closed at 7:47.
23          So I guess it's up to us now if we have
24 any comments amongst ourselves that we need to go
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1 back and consider.  We certainly noted
2 Commissioner Stanton's concern with the removal,
3 and, I don't know, do we need to have any mention
4 of that in anything right now going forward
5 30-plus years?  If we take that out, do we have to
6 have a note that we would like to make sure the
7 conduit is included in the removal?
8          PATRICK ANSWORTH:  So, I mean, the
9 ordinance is -- the special use lays with the

10 land, and obviously we hold this on.  I don't know
11 if I have a time clicker -- time clock for going
12 up to 30 years, but if any new development happens
13 on there, proper excavation takes place to remove
14 anything on site that would impede on the health,
15 safety, and welfare of a new structure.  So I
16 completely empathize with Commissioner Stanton's
17 approach.  A condition can be added 30 years from
18 now during the decommissioning of this to remove
19 the conduit and, you know, Staff 30 years from now
20 will have to review that ordinance prior to any
21 demo permit, but when excavators are out on site,
22 they'll note items found on field and make
23 adjustments to fully removing it if any
24 development were to happen there in the future.
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1          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  You're right.  I think
2 our ordinance system would pick that up in 30
3 years as far as the condition of that land if it's
4 going to be removed and everything on it put back
5 to the way it is now, and I don't know that we
6 need to mention that now.  I think it will just
7 stay part of our removal process for something
8 like this, but -- and I think in 30 years we're
9 going to learn a lot more about removal of solar

10 panels than we know now.  I don't think there's
11 many places removing it.
12          MS. RASMUSSEN:  No.
13          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  They're putting it in,
14 and I think -- I trust that we'll all learn a lot
15 about the removal process when that comes up.
16             Okay.  Can I call for the motion?  Can
17    I call for a motion to approve the request
18    from Hendrickson USA LLC for granting of a
19    special use permit and variations for a new
20    solar array on a 4.8-acre area of land in the
21    M-2 general manufacturing district located at
22    501 Caton Farm Road Crest Hill, Illinois?
23          Now we have mentioned the ten conditions.
24    You're aware of these ten conditions --
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1          MR. BATSCH:  Yes.
2          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  -- and have seen them
3 and agree to all of them?
4          CHRIS BATSCH:  Yes.
5          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  So is there a
6 motion to approve?
7          MIKE STIFF:  And the motion to approve
8 would be the variance as outlined in the Staff
9 report.

10          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Yes.  Correct.  Thank
11 you.
12          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  I'll make that
13 motion.
14          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  You'll make that
15 motion, Commissioner Peterson.
16          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Second.
17          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Commissioner Slabozeski
18 second.
19          Roll call, please.
20          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Jeff Peterson?
21          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  Yes.
22          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Cheryl Slabozeski?
23          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Yes.
24          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Angelo DeSerio?
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1          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  Yes.
2          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Ken Carroll?
3          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  Yes.
4          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  John Stanton?
5          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  Yes.
6          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Marty Flynn?
7          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  Yes.
8          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  And Bill Thomas?
9          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Yes.

10          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Motion carried.
11          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Motion passed 7 to 0.
12          PATRICK ANSWORTH:  That item will be on
13 the May 12th special -- or not special use --
14 sorry, the regular session -- work session for
15 City Council -- it has been a long day -- so we
16 will -- Staff will be in communication with your
17 team on that.
18          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  So let me finish
19 up.  Thank you.
20          First of all, I want to thank and
21 congratulate Hendrickson USA LLC for being a City
22 of Crest Hill business for almost 50 years.  On
23 behalf of the Plan Commission we thank you for
24 being a loyal business to the City of Crest Hill,
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1 and we certainly want your business to thrive and
2 continue to move forward with the future of
3 technology, especially as it relates to renewable
4 energy.  We thank you very much for that.
5          So I will say that the Plan Commission
6 has approved the request from Hendrickson USA LLC
7 for your special use permit for your variations
8 and for the new solar array on the 4.8-acre farm
9 land -- solar farm land of the M-2 general

10 manufacturing district located at 501 Caton Farm
11 Road with the ten conditions discussed earlier,
12 and those conditions will be attached to our
13 minutes of this meeting, and we will forward our
14 recommendation to the City Council.  The Plan
15 Commission is only a recommending body, and it
16 sounds like the City Council will hear your case
17 at their work succession on May 12th, so I
18 encourage, and I'm sure you will be there to
19 reiterate the terrific presentations that you both
20 made.  And, again, I thank you for being a part of
21 Crest Hill and we look forward to this exciting
22 new venture.
23          CHRIS BATSCH:  Thank you very much.
24          UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Thank you.
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1          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Thank you.
2          So we have other business to do.  If you
3 want to stick around, you're welcome to, but you
4 can also feel free to get up and leave without
5 disturbing us, that would be fine.  We look
6 forward to seeing you on May 12th.
7          CHRIS BATSCH:  Thank you.
8          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Thank you very much.
9          So we have other business on our agenda.

10 The first one being the presentation, discussion,
11 and approval regarding the proposed amendments to
12 the Plan Commission Bylaws.
13          And, Mike, is there something you want to
14 just make some comments on or...
15          MIKE STIFF:  Not really.  I mean, this
16 has already been -- the only change that was made
17 was there was a -- City Council clarified the
18 ordinance with respect to compensation and the
19 number of absences, so we just incorporated the
20 new ordinance by reference into this, and then I
21 think we added a signature line for Patrick since
22 he is new as the actual director of community and
23 economic development, and then, obviously, the
24 dates changed, but, other than that, I think this
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1 is what you discussed and vetted and everybody was
2 okay with back in October, we just haven't had a
3 meeting since then to approve it.
4          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Yeah, it has taken us
5 this long to get together to be able to approve
6 it.
7          So assuming everybody has had a chance to
8 read it and is in agreement with everything we
9 said there, I would like to have a motion to

10 approve these bylaws and the changes as presented.
11          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  So moved.
12          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  Second.
13          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Motion by Commissioner
14 Carroll.  Second by Commissioner Peterson.
15          Any more discussion on it?  Good to go?
16          So roll call, please, Samantha.
17          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Ken Carroll?
18          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  Yes.
19          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Jeff Peterson?
20          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  Yes.
21          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Marty Flynn?
22          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  Yes.
23          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  John Stanton?
24          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  Yes.
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1          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Cheryl Slabozeski?
2          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Yes.
3          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Angelo DeSerio?
4          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  Yes.
5          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Bill Thomas?
6          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Yes.
7          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Motion carried.
8          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  Is there any
9 other business?

10          Commissioner DeSerio, any other business
11 you would like to present to the Plan Commission?
12          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  Yes, there is,
13 Mr. Chairman.
14          To Chairman William Thomas, Chairman of
15 the Crest Hill Plan Commission, as of tonight at
16 the close of business tonight I am submitting my
17 resignation as a commissioner to the Planning
18 Commission.  It's with a humble heart that I do
19 this.  I have been on this Planning Commission
20 since, I believe, 2020, if not before that.  I
21 appreciate the knowledge I have received.  I did
22 submit a letter to you and Samantha and Christine
23 Vershay.  This is not a resignation because of any
24 ill will, it is a resignation because I was
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1 elected as Alderman of Ward 1 and I cannot serve
2 on both positions.
3          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  You know, normally I
4 would say, wow, we're really sorry to see you go,
5 but in this particular case we are very excited to
6 see you the now become a member of the Plan
7 Commission, and you have been a definite asset to
8 the Plan Commission.  You have served as secretary
9 for the last four of your five years and we wish

10 you nothing -- nothing but the best as you go
11 forward, so thank you.
12          MIKE STIFF:  I actually thought you were
13 going to ask Commissioner Peterson if you could
14 take your chair over there for tonight's meeting,
15 but...
16          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Yeah.  So we have --
17 May, according to our new bylaws, the month of May
18 is when we reelect chairman, vice chairman and
19 secretary, so I think when we have our May meeting
20 on the agenda we will put election -- election of
21 officers should already be going to be on there.
22          MIKE STIFF:  Patrick has just indicated
23 that we currently have no May agenda items, so it
24 will have to be June, unless you want to meet just
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1 to reorganize.
2          PATRICK ANSWORTH:  I guarantee you we
3 will have at least one agenda for June.
4          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  So we weren't able to
5 pull that meeting to a special meeting later in
6 the month?
7          PATRICK ANSWORTH:  Staffing times and --
8          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Okay.  Well, that's
9 fine.  We'll put it on the June agenda.  If we

10 don't have a meeting we don't need a secretary
11 until then, so...
12          Okay.  Well, that takes care of the other
13 business and I don't see anybody out there to make
14 public comments, so with no public comment
15 required can we have a motion for adjournment?
16 And I have actually already penciled in that
17 Commissioner DeSerio is going to make the motion
18 for adjournment this meeting, his last meeting.
19          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  So moved.
20          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  So I need a second.
21          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  I'll second.
22          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Was that Marty?
23          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  Yes.
24          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  All right.
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1 Commissioner Flynn for the second.
2          And can we have a roll call, please?
3          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Angelo DeSerio?
4          COMMISSIONER DESERIO:  Yes.
5          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Marty Flynn?
6          COMMISSIONER FLYNN:  Yes.
7          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  John Stanton?
8          COMMISSIONER STANTON:  Yes.
9          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Jeff Peterson?

10          COMMISSIONER PETERSON:  Yes.
11          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Ken Carroll?
12          COMMISSIONER CARROLL:  Yes.
13          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Cheryl Slabozeski?
14          COMMISSIONER SLABOZESKI:  Yes.
15          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Bill Thomas?
16          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  Yes.
17          SAMANTHA TILLEY:  Motion carried.
18          CHAIRMAN THOMAS:  So meeting adjourned at
19 7:58 -- 7:59.
20          (The meeting was adjourned at 7:59 p.m.
21          on April 24th, 2025.)
22

23

24
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1          STATE OF ILLINOIS)
                          )   SS:

2          COUNTY OF WILL   )
3

4          Hailey Schoot, CSR, RPR, being first duly
5    sworn, on oath says that she is a court
6    reporter doing business in the State of
7    Illinois; and that she reported in shorthand
8    the proceedings of said meeting and that the
9    foregoing is a true and correct transcript of

10    her shorthand notes so taken as aforesaid, and
11    contains the proceedings given at said
12    meeting.
13

14

15

16

                         Hailey Schoot, CSR, RPR
17                          Illinois CSR License

                         084-004897
18
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ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A “UTILITY 
FACILITY” (SOLAR ARRAY) AND A VARIATION OF SECTION 11.6-1 OF THE 

CREST HILL ZONING CODE WITH RESPECT TO THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE 
EMERGENCY ACCESS ROAD ON PIN 11-04-33-100-002-0000, AND A VARIATION 

FROM CITY CODE SECTION 15.04.040(I)(8) TO ALLOW A DRIVEWAY WIDTH OF 
45 FEET ON PIN 11-04-33-100-003-0000 SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS (APPLICATION 

OF HENDRICKSON USA, LLC) 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Crest Hill has the authority to adopt 
ordinances and to promulgate rules and regulations that pertain to its government and affairs and 
protect the public health, safety, and welfare of its citizens; and 

 WHEREAS, the Applicant, Hendrickson USA, LLC (“Hendrickson”) is the owner of 
certain property located within the corporate boundaries of the City, consisting of two PIN 
numbers (11-04-33-100-003-0000 and 11-04-33-100-002-0000) that is commonly known as 501 
Caton Farm Road in the City of Crest Hill, Illinois (“Subject Property”); and 

 WHEREAS, the Subject Property is presently zoned M-2 (General Manufacturing 
District) and is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto and fully incorporated herein; and 

 WHEREAS, on or about March 31, 2025, Hendrickson, through its representative, Verde 
Solutions submitted an Application for Development (“Application”) to the City seeking, inter 
alia, the following zoning relief: 

1. Approval of a Special Use Permit for a Utility Facility (Ground Mounted Solar Array) 
on Hendrickson’s property bearing PIN 11-04-33-100-003-0000, which is currently a 
partially vacant lot which is also used for Manufacturing; and 

2. A Variation from Section 11.6-1 (Parking and Loading Surfaces) of the Crest Hill 
Zoning Ordinance to allow the emergency access road which circles the proposed 
ground mounted solar array to be constructed of an engineered gravel surface 
consisting of a subgrade fabric and 3/4” stone sized limestone material rather than 
asphalt or concrete. 

3. A Variation from Section 15.04.040(I)(8) of the Crest Hill Building Code Standards to 
allow a driveway entrance on PIN 11-04-33-100-003-0000 to exceed the 30’ maximum 
width by 15’ for a total allowable width of 45’. 

            WHEREAS, following the submission of the application and evaluation by City Staff, it 
was determined that the existing driveway entrance to the Subject Property’s eastern portion of the 
property bearing PIN 11-04-33-100-002-0000 from Caton Farm Road is not paved and consists of 
gravel, thereby making it non-conforming to the current Zoning Ordinance; and 

            WHEREAS, City Staff has recommended that the subject driveway located on the eastern 
portion of the property bearing PIN 11-04-33-100-002-0000 be brought into conformance by 
paving it subject to the City’s construction standards and Section 11.6-1 of the Zoning Ordinance, 
and the Plan Commission concurred in the recommendation and made the driveway conformance 
a condition of the granting of the Special Use Permit and Variations; and 
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            WHEREAS, Hendrickson has agreed to all the recommended conditions as outlined in the 
April 17, 2025 Staff Memorandum; and 

 WHEREAS, on April 24, 2025, the City of Crest Hill Plan Commission conducted a public 
hearing on the Application, due notice having been published and provided for the same, and at 
that time, the Plan Commission unanimously recommended conditional approval of the 
Application, as stated in the Plan Commission’s written Findings and Decision, a copy of which 
is attached hereto as Exhibit B and fully incorporated herein; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed and concurred with the Plan Commission’s 
Findings and Decision and hereby determines and declares that it is necessary, expedient, and in 
the best interests of the City and its citizens to approve Hendrickson’s Application, subject to 
conditions and as set out in this Ordinance. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF CREST HILL, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS, PURSUANT TO ITS STATUTORY 
AUTHORITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

 SECTION 1: The City Council hereby finds that all the recitals contained in the preamble 
to this Ordinance are true, correct, and complete and are hereby incorporated by reference hereto 
and made a part hereof. 

 SECTION 2: The City Council hereby approves the Application of Hendrickson and 
grants to Hendrickson the following: 

1. A Special Use Permit to construct on and utilize the property bearing PINs 11-04-33-100-
002-0000 and 11-04-33-100-003-0000 as, inter alia, a Utility Facility (Ground Mounted 
Solar Array) in substantial conformance with the March 31, 2025 Verde Solutions Special 
Use Permit Request subject to all conditions contained in the April 17, 2025 Crest Hill 
Staff Memorandum, attached hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated herein. 

2. A Variation from Section 11.6-1 (Parking and Loading Surfaces) of the Crest Hill Zoning 
Ordinance to allow the emergency access road which circles the proposed ground mounted 
solar array to be constructed of an engineered gravel surface consisting of a subgrade fabric 
and 3/4” stone sized limestone material rather than asphalt or concrete in accordance with 
the March 31, 2025 Verde Solutions Special Use Permit Request and Exhibit C. 

3. A Variation from Section 15.04.040(I)(8) of the Crest Hill Building Code Standards to 
allow the existing driveway entrance on PIN 11-04-33-100-003-0000 to be maintained 
which exceeds the 30’ maximum width by 15’ for a total allowable width of 45’.  

 SECTION 3: In the event that any provision or provisions, portion or portions, or clause 
or clauses of this Ordinance shall be declared to be invalid or unenforceable by a Court of 
competent jurisdiction, such adjudication shall in no way affect or impair the validity or 
enforceability of any of the remaining provisions, portions, or clauses of this Ordinance that may 
be given effect without such invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, portion or portions, 
or clause or clauses. 

 SECTION 4: That all ordinances, resolutions, motions, or parts thereof, conflicting with 
any of the provisions of this Ordinance, are hereby repealed to the extent of the conflict. 
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 SECTION 5: That the City Clerk is hereby directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form. 

 SECTION 6: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the later 
occurring of (i) its passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law and (ii) 
execution of the “Unconditional Agreement and Consent” attached hereto as Exhibit D and fully 
incorporated herein. In the event that Exhibit D is not duly executed within sixty (60) days 
following the adoption of this Ordinance, this Ordinance shall thereafter be null and void and of 
no further legal effect and shall be deemed to have been automatically repealed and rescinded 
without any further action by the City Council or notice or hearing due to Hendrickson. 

 

[Intentionally Blank] 
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PASSED THIS 19TH DAY OF MAY, 2025. 

 Aye Nay Absent Abstain 
Alderman Scott Dyke _______ _______ _______ _______ 
Alderman Angelo DiSerio _______ _______ _______ _______ 
Alderwoman Claudia Gazal _______ _______ _______ _______ 
Alderman Darrell Jefferson _______ _______ _______ _______ 
Alderperson Tina Oberlin _______ _______ _______ _______ 
Alderman Mark Cipiti _______ _______ _______ _______ 
Alderman Nate Albert _______ _______ _______ _______ 
Alderman Joe Kubal _______ _______ _______ _______ 
Mayor Raymond R. Soliman _______ _______ _______ _______ 

 
 

       __________________________________________ 
Christine Vershay-Hall, City Clerk 

 
 
 
APPROVED THIS 19TH DAY OF MAY, 2025. 
 
 
        

Raymond R. Soliman, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
        

Christine Vershay-Hall, City Clerk 
 



 

Exhibit A 
Legal Description 

 
 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
PARCEL I:  
A TRACT OF LAND IN THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION S5, IN TOWNSHIP 36 
NORTH, RANGE IO, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS 
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO 
LAVELLA BUILDING CORPORATION BY QUIT -CLAIM DEED RECORDED IN THE 
RECORDER'S OFFICE OF WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS DOCUMENT 75L202, WHICH 
NORTHEAST CORNER IS ALSO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE WEST 14,98.84 
FEET OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER AND RUNNING THENCE EAST ALONG THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER A DISTANCE OF 859.3I FEET TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO JOHN F. ZELLER BY 
QUIT-CLAIM DEED RECORDED IN SAID RECORDER'S OFFICE AS DOCUMENT 909129, 
WHICH NORTHWEST CORNER IS ALSO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE EAST 
282.7I FEET OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER, THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID EAST 282 71 FEET AND THE WEST LINE OF SAID TRACT CONVEYED 
BY DOCUMENT 909129 A DISTANCE OF 577.61 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER 
OF THE LAST ABOVE MENTIONED TRACT; THENCE WESTWARDLY A DISTANCE OF 
156.08 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTHERLY LINE Of THE TRACT OF LAND 
CONVEYED TO THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY OF NORTHERN ILLINOIS BY QUIT-
CLAIM DEED RECORDED IN SAID RECORDER'S OFFICE AS DOCUMENT LI936, 
WHICH POINT IS LI8 I9 FEET WEST FROM THE EAST LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST 
QUARTER MEASURED PERPENDICULARLY THERETO; THENCE WESTWARDLY 
ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID TRACT CONVEYED BY SAID DOCUMENT 
419056 A DISTANCE OF 725.I5 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID TRACT OF 
LAND CONVEYED BY DOCUMENT 754202, WHICH SOUTHEAST CORNER IS ON THE 
EAST LINE OF SAID WEST 1498.84 FEET AND THENCE NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE 
OF SAID TRACT CONVEYED BY DOCUMENT 754202 AND ALONG SAID EAST LINE OF 
THE WEST 1L98.84 FEET A DISTANCE OF 635.69 FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING, 
IN WLLL COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
PARCEL II: 
THAT PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 33, IN TOWNSHIP 36 
NORTH, RANGE 10, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: BOUNDED ON THE NORTH BY THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 33, ON 
THE SOUTH BY THE NORTHERLY LINE AND ON SAID LINE EXTENDED WESTERLY 
OF LAND CONVEYED BY FLORENCE O. WINSHIP AND B.W. WINSHIP, ET AI, TO THE 
PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY OF NORTHERN ILLINOIS BY WARRANTY DEED DATED 
APRIL 14, 1928 AND RECORDED JUNE 7, 1928 IN BOOK 661, PAGE 564, AS DOCUMENT 
419036, ON THE WEST BY LAND CONVEYED BY FLORENCE O. WINSHIP, ET AI, TO 
THE CATHOLIC BISHOP OF CHICAGO BY WARRANTY DEED DATED FEBRUARY 10, 



 

 

1928 AND RECORDED JUNE 5, 1928 IN BOOK 661, PAGE 554, AS DOCUMENT 418951, 
AND ON THE EAST LINE BY A LINE 1498.84 FEET EAST OF AND PARALLEL WITH THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER AND EXCEPT THAT PROPERTY 
CONVEYED BY LAVELIA BUILDING CORPORATION TO MARTIN D. MCNAMARA, 
TRUSTEE, BY DEED RECORDED MAY31, 1955AS DOCUMENT 774760, IN WILL 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
Commonly known as: 501 Caton Farm Road in the City of Crest Hill, Illinois 
 
Bearing the current PINs: 11-04-33-100-002-0000 and 11-04-33-100-003-0000 

  



 

 

Exhibit B 
Plan Commission Findings and Decision  

April 24, 2025 

  



 

 

 
Exhibit C 

April 17, 2025 City of Crest Hill Staff  
Memorandum and Application Drawings 
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UNCONDITIONAL AGREEMENT AND CONSENT 
 
 
TO:     The City of Crest Hill, Illinois (“City”): 
 
 

WHEREAS, Hendrickson USA, LLC (the “Applicant”) is the owner of that certain real 
property commonly known 501Caton Farm Road, in the City of Crest Hill, Illinois and bearing the 
current PINs: 11-04-33-100-002-0000 and 11-04-33-100-003-0000 (“Subject Property”); and 

 
WHEREAS, Ordinance No. _________, approved and passed by the Crest Hill City 

Council on _____________, 2025, (“the Ordinance”), conditionally approved a Special Use 
Permit and Variations to allow the construction of a Utility Facility (Ground Mounted Solar 
Array), subject to certain enumerated and specified conditions; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6 of the Ordinance provides, among other things, that the Ordinance 

shall not take effect, and is subject to automatic repealer and recission, unless and until the 
Applicant has executed, within 60 days following the passage of the Ordinance, this Unconditional 
Agreement and Consent to accept and abide by each and all of the terms, conditions, and 
limitations set forth in the Ordinance. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant does hereby agree, and covenant as follows: 
 
1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to, accept, consent to, and will abide by all 

terms, conditions, limitations, restrictions, and provisions of the Ordinance. 
  
2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been properly given 

and held with respect to the application process and passage of the Ordinance, understands and has 
considered the possibility of revocation of the Ordinance as a result of violation of its terms or 
failure to abide by the conditions set forth in the Ordinance, and agrees, covenants and warrants 
that it will not challenge any such revocation on the basis of any procedural infirmity or a denial 
of any procedural right, provided that notice of the City’s intent to Repeal or Revoke the Ordinance 
is provided to the Applicant as required by Section ________ of the Ordinance. 
 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the City shall not be in any way liable for any 
damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the City’s granting of the Special Use 
Permit and Variations, or its passage of the Ordinance, and that the City’s approvals do not, and 
will not,  in any way be deemed to insure the Applicant against damage or injury of any kind at 
any time. 
 

4. The Applicant hereby agrees to release, defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City of 
Crest Hill, its corporate authorities, elected and appointed officials, officers, employees, agents, 
representatives, and attorneys from any and all claims that may, at any time, be asserted against 
them in connection with (a) the City’s review and approval of any plans and issuance of any 



 

 

permits, (b) the City’s passage of the Ordinance, and (c) the maintenance and use of the Property 
as authorized  by the Ordinance. 

 
 
 
Hendrickson USA, LLC 
 
      
 
By:       
 
Its:       
 
Date:        
 
 
SUBSCRIBED and SWORN to before me 
this ______day of __________, 2025. 
 
      
Notary Public 
 
My commission expires:        
 
 

 



 

 

 
BEFORE THE PLAN COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF CREST HILL, ILLINOIS 
 

IN RE:      ) 
      ) 
The application of Hendrickson USA, LLC ) 
For a Special Use Permit and Variations to ) 
the City of Crest Hill Zoning Code and  ) No. SU-25-2-4-1 
Code of Ordinances                                    ) 
      )  
          

FINDINGS AND DECISION OF THE  
PLAN COMMISSION AS TO CASE NO. SU-25-2-4-1 

THE APPLICATION OF HENDRICKSON USA, LLC FOR A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A 
UTILITY FACILITY (GROUND MOUNTED SOLAR ARRAY) AND VARIATIONS TO 

SECTION 11.6-1 OF THE CREST HILL ZONING ORDINANCE AND SECTION 15.04.040(I)(8) 
OF THE CITY OF CREST HILL BUILDING CODE ON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 501 

CATON FARM ROAD  
 

 THIS APPLICATION, coming before the City of Crest Hill Plan Commission for decision, and the 
Plan Commission having heard the evidence in support and opposition to the application at a regularly 
scheduled meeting held on April 24, 2025, and being fully advised in the premises, THE COMMISSION 
DOES MAKE THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS: 
 

A. That the applicant, Hendrickson USA, LLC is the owner of certain property located on two 
PIN numbers at 501 Caton Farm Road in the City of Crest Hill and as legally described in Exhibit “A” 
hereto, which parcels are zoned M-2 General Manufacturing. 

 
B. That the application seeks the following: 
 
An M-2 special use permit for construction and operation of a Utility Facility (Ground Mounted 

Solar Array) which will supply 100% of its electrical and power needs on the property described in the 
application, approximately 4.8 acres on the west side of its property and part of  PIN: 11-04-33-100-002-
0000 (the “Property”), as legally described in Exhibit “A”.  

 
1. A Variation from Section 11.6-1 (Parking and Loading Surfaces) of the Crest Hill Zoning 

Ordinance to allow the emergency access road which circles the proposed ground mounted solar 
array to be constructed of an engineered gravel surface consisting of a subgrade fabric and 3/4” 
stone sized limestone material rather than asphalt or concrete. 

2. A Variation from Section 15.04.040(I)(8) of the Crest Hill Building Code Standards to allow a 
driveway entrance on PIN 11-04-33-100-003-0000 to exceed the 30’ maximum width by 15’ for a 
total allowable width of 45’. 

 
 C. That the Property is currently zoned M-2; 
 
 D. That the proposed use is not allowed on the Property as currently zoned; 
 



 

 

E. That the Property described in the application is currently zoned as General Manufacturing 
District, with M-1 and M-2 zoning adjacent thereto; 

 
 F. That the application for the Special Use Permit and Variations was properly submitted to 
the City and notice of the application and the Public Hearing were properly published; 
 
 G. That no interested parties filed their appearances herein; 
 
 H. That the public hearing was opened and called to order on April 24, 2025, and the Applicant 
presented evidence and arguments in support of its application on that date, and members of the public were 
allowed to make comment and examine the Applicant’s witnesses. The public hearing was duly transcribed 
by a certified shorthand reporter of the State of Illinois; 
 

 I. That the rules adopted by the Plan Commission for the conduct of Public Hearings by the 
Plan Commission were duly followed and observed; 
 

 K. That the proposed special use for the Utility Facility (Ground Mounted Solar Array) red 
under section 12.7 of the zoning code, meets the standards for the granting of the special use under section 
12.7-6 as the proposed development meets all of the criteria set forth in subsections 12.7-6(1), (2), (3), (4), 
(5) and (6) for the reasons set forth on the record in the Plan Commission meeting held on April 24, 2025 
as well as those recommendations and comments contained in the City of Crest Hill staff report dated April 
17, 2025, and subject to the conditions set forth therein;  
 
 L. That the requested Variation from Section 11.6-1 (Parking and Loading Surfaces) are for 
the reasons set forth on the record in the April 24, 2025 Plan Commission Meeting and in the City of Crest 
Hill staff report dated April 17, 2025, and subject to the conditions set forth therein, is also determined to 
be acceptable and meet the standards for Variations as established by Section 12.6-2 of the zoning 
ordinance; 
 
 M. That the requested Variation from Section 15.04.040(I)(8) of the Crest Hill Building Code 
Standards is also determined to be conditionally accepted for the reasons set forth on the record in the April 
24, 2025 Plan Commission meeting and in the City of Crest Hill staff report dated April 17, 2025. 
 

 THEREFORE, it is the decision of the Plan Commission of the City of Crest Hill, Illinois, based 
upon the evidence heard by same and arguments and suggestions heard at the public hearing, and having 
duly considered the mandates and standards as set forth in the City of Crest Hill Illinois Code of Ordinances 
and Zoning Ordinance for the granting of special uses and Variations, as follows:  
 

1. That the application of Hendrickson USA, LLC for an M-2 Special Use Permit for the 
construction and operation of a Utility Facility (Ground Mounted Solar Array) on 4.8 acres of 
currently vacant land on PIN: 11-04-33-100-002-0000 (the “Property”), as legally  described 
in Exhibit “A”, in an M-2 zoning district was conditionally recommended to be approved and 
is supported by the evidence adduced during the April 24, 2025 public hearing and as outlined 
in the April 17, 2025 City of Crest Hill staff report; 
 



 

 

2. That the application of Hendrickson USA, LLC for a Variation from Section 11.6-1 (Parking 
and Loading Surfaces) of the Crest Hill Zoning Ordinance to allow the emergency access road 
which circles the proposed ground mounted solar array to be constructed of an engineered 
gravel surface consisting of a subgrade fabric and 3/4” stone sized limestone material rather 
than asphalt or concrete on 4.8 acres of currently vacant land on PIN: 11-04-33-100-002-
0000 (the “Property”), as legally  described in Exhibit “A”, in an M-2 zoning district was 
conditionally recommended to be approved and is supported by the evidence adduced during 
the April 24, 2025 public hearing and as outlined in the April 17, 2025 City of Crest Hill staff 
report; 

 
3. That the application of Hendrickson USA, LLC for a Variation from Section 15.04.040(I)(8) 

of the Crest Hill Building Code Standards to allow a driveway entrance on PIN 11-04-33-
100-003-0000 to exceed the 30’ maximum width by 15’ for a total allowable width of 45’ as 
legally  described in Exhibit “A”, in an M-2 zoning district was conditionally recommended to 
be approved and is supported by the evidence adduced during the April 24, 2025 public hearing 
and as outlined in the April 17, 2025 City of Crest Hill staff report. 
 

4. These conditional approvals are subject to all conditions enumerated in the April 17, 2025 City 
of Crest Hill staff report which is attached hereto and made part of this Findings and Decision 
document.  

  
5. It is therefore the recommendation of the City of Crest Hill Plan Commission that the application 

for the Special Use Permit and Variations as outlined herein be conditionally approved by the 
City Council. 

 

 
 

[Left Intentionally Blank] 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

Adopted by the Plan Commission of the City of Crest Hill, Illinois, this 24th Day of April, 2025 
upon the following voice vote: 
 

 Aye Nay Absent Abstain 
Commissioner Cheryl Slabozeski ___X ____ _______ _______ _______ 
Commissioner John Stanton ___X____ _______ _______ _______ 
Commissioner Ken Carroll ___X____ _______ _______ _______ 
Commissioner Marty Flynn ___X____ _______ _______ _______ 
Commissioner Bill Thomas ___X____ _______ _______ _______ 
Commissioner Jeff Thomas ___X____ _______ _______ _______ 
Commissioner Angelo Deserio ___X____ _______ _______ _______ 

 

 
Approved: 
 
        

Bill Thomas, Chairperson 
 
Attest: 
 
        

Christine Vershay-Hall, City Clerk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

“Exhibit A” 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
PERMANENT INDEX NOS: 11-04-33-100-002-0000 AND 11-04-33-100-003-0000 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
PARCEL I:  
A TRACT OF LAND IN THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION S5, IN TOWNSHIP 36 
NORTH, RANGE IO, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS 
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO 
LAVELLA BUILDING CORPORATION BY QUIT -CLAIM DEED RECORDED IN THE 
RECORDER'S OFFICE OF WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS DOCUMENT 75L202, WHICH 
NORTHEAST CORNER IS ALSO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE WEST 14,98.84 
FEET OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER AND RUNNING THENCE EAST ALONG THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER A DISTANCE OF 859.3I FEET TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO JOHN F. ZELLER BY 
QUIT-CLAIM DEED RECORDED IN SAID RECORDER'S OFFICE AS DOCUMENT 909129, 
WHICH NORTHWEST CORNER IS ALSO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE EAST 
282.7I FEET OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER, THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID EAST 282 71 FEET AND THE WEST LINE OF SAID TRACT CONVEYED 
BY DOCUMENT 909129 A DISTANCE OF 577.61 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER 
OF THE LAST ABOVE MENTIONED TRACT; THENCE WESTWARDLY A DISTANCE OF 
156.08 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTHERLY LINE Of THE TRACT OF LAND 
CONVEYED TO THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY OF NORTHERN ILLINOIS BY QUIT-
CLAIM DEED RECORDED IN SAID RECORDER'S OFFICE AS DOCUMENT LI936, 
WHICH POINT IS LI8 I9 FEET WEST FROM THE EAST LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST 
QUARTER MEASURED PERPENDICULARLY THERETO; THENCE WESTWARDLY 
ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID TRACT CONVEYED BY SAID DOCUMENT 
419056 A DISTANCE OF 725.I5 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID TRACT OF 
LAND CONVEYED BY DOCUMENT 754202, WHICH SOUTHEAST CORNER IS ON THE 
EAST LINE OF SAID WEST 1498.84 FEET AND THENCE NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE 
OF SAID TRACT CONVEYED BY DOCUMENT 754202 AND ALONG SAID EAST LINE OF 
THE WEST 1L98.84 FEET A DISTANCE OF 635.69 FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING, 
IN WLLL COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
PARCEL II: 
THAT PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 33, IN TOWNSHIP 36 
NORTH, RANGE 10, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: BOUNDED ON THE NORTH BY THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 33, ON 
THE SOUTH BY THE NORTHERLY LINE AND ON SAID LINE EXTENDED WESTERLY 
OF LAND CONVEYED BY FLORENCE O. WINSHIP AND B.W. WINSHIP, ET AI, TO THE 
PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY OF NORTHERN ILLINOIS BY WARRANTY DEED DATED 
APRIL 14, 1928 AND RECORDED JUNE 7, 1928 IN BOOK 661, PAGE 564, AS DOCUMENT 
419036, ON THE WEST BY LAND CONVEYED BY FLORENCE O. WINSHIP, ET AI, TO 
THE CATHOLIC BISHOP OF CHICAGO BY WARRANTY DEED DATED FEBRUARY 10, 



 

 

1928 AND RECORDED JUNE 5, 1928 IN BOOK 661, PAGE 554, AS DOCUMENT 418951, 
AND ON THE EAST LINE BY A LINE 1498.84 FEET EAST OF AND PARALLEL WITH THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER AND EXCEPT THAT PROPERTY 
CONVEYED BY LAVELIA BUILDING CORPORATION TO MARTIN D. MCNAMARA, 
TRUSTEE, BY DEED RECORDED MAY31, 1955AS DOCUMENT 774760, IN WILL 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
Commonly known as: 501 Caton Farm Road in the City of Crest Hill, Illinois 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Plan Commission/ZBA 

From: 

 
Patrick Ainsworth, AICP, Community and Economic Development Director 
Ronald Mentzer, Community & Economic Development Consultant 

Date: April 17, 2025 

Re: 

 
Consideration of Case Number SU-25-2-4-1 - Request of Hendrickson USA LLC 
seeking approval for a Special Use Permit and Variations for a New Solar Array which is 
Classified as a Utility Facility under the Crest Hill Zoning Ordinance on a 4.8-acre area 
of land in a M-2 General Manufacturing District located at 501 Caton Farm Road in 
Crest Hill, Illinois 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
 
Verde Solutions, on behalf of Hendrickson USA LLC (the “Applicant”), has submitted an application 
package for the City’s potential approval of a Special Use Permit with Variations for the construction 
and operation of a 4.8-acre solar array to assist with powering the approximately 100,000 SF, 
Hendrickson Manufacturing Facility (see Attachment A for the Application). The Applicant has selected 
the vacant land to the west of their manufacturing facility to improve with the proposed solar array and 
an emergency vehicle only access road. The Applicant is proposing to limit land disruption and pave 
as little of the existing lot which presents a Variation request to improve the emergency vehicle access 
road with an engineered gravel material. There are two parcels within the entire property that are both 
owned by the Applicant. Since the solar array is improved on the vacant lot to the west and will power 
the existing manufacturing facility, both PINs are included in the Application (PIN 11-04-33-100-002-

Land Use and Zoning Summary 

 Land Use Comp Plan Zoning 

Subject Parcel Vacant & 
Manufacturing  

Manufacturing   M-2 

North Stateville      Stateville  M-1 

South ComEd Manufacturing M-2 

East Manufacturing Manufacturing M-2 

West Cemetery Community 
Facilities 

M-1 

    

 

 

Project Details 

Project Utility Facility (Solar Array) 

Request Special Use for Utility Facility  

Variation for Surface Material  

Deviation from Curb Cut Width 

Location 501 Caton Farm Road 

Site Details 

Building 
Sizes 

N/A  

Site Area  24.6 Acres 
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0000 and 11-04-33-100-003-0000). The Applicant has operated at the current location for almost 50 
years and are planning to update parts of their property over the next couple of years starting with the 
solar array.  
 
Project Background 
In August 2024, the Applicant met with the Community Development staff to obtain preliminary 
feedback on the preliminary concept and see what the process was to move forward on this project. 
Community Development staff realized the project scope and determined that a Special Use was 
required size under the classification of Utility Facility. The Crest Hill Zoning Code defines the land use 
of Utility Facility below: 
 
UTILITY FACILITY: A service and its related facilities which ostensibly provides for the benefit of the 
general utility services including, but not limited to: water, sanitary sewer, storm sewers, electrical, 
telephone, natural gas, radio, television, radar, Wi-Fi, and related utilities 

 
The collective power generated from the solar panels will total approximately 1.185 megawatts which, 
is stated in the Application, can supply all of the annual power needed for the Hendrickson USA facility. 
Given the size of this project, the Lockport Fire Protection District was consulted on the access for this 
project and requested an access road in order to serve the property in the event of a fire or other 
emergency.  A design solution was reached which will allow for an access road to be improved around 
the solar array for emergency vehicles only and will be improved with a subgrade fabric and ¾” stone 
size limestone gravel surface which was reviewed by the City Engineer. Improving the access road 
with asphalt or concrete would trigger stormwater detention requirements and thus would not make 
this project feasible for the Applicant. This access road will be within the fenced area and the access 
road cannot be accessed through Caton Farm (the only access is through their private property). I will 
be used for emergency vehicles only.  
 
There are several additional steps that are being taken to assist with the design and placement of this 
project which includes maintaining an approximately 180 foot setback from Caton Farm Road, over 
200 new live plantings will be added to the perimeter of this project to enhance the property’s 
landscaped area, the entire solar array will be fenced off so no unauthorized personnel can access this 
area and the entrance into the solar array will be locked. The Lockport Fire Protection District will have 
access to the fenced off area in the event of an emergency.  
 
If the Special Use and the Variation/Deviation requests are approved, the Applicant plans to start the 
permit process and construction of the solar array this year. 

 
Planning, Zoning, and City Code Analysis  

 
Zoning Ordinance and Crest Hil City Code Regulations – The following subsections assess the 
submittals in relation to the Zoning Ordinance and the Crest Hill City Code. There are several 
components of the project to review in comparison to this document, hence there are multiple attributes 
of this project that are detailed below.  

 
Off Street Parking – There are no parking requirements for a Utility Service given the notion that the 
solar array is an accessory use of providing renewable electricity to the primary manufacturing facility 
of the Applicant on the parcel to the east (PIN 11-04-33-100-003-0000). This is essentially an un-
manned facility which will have a monitoring system and will require minimal maintenance during the 
lifespan of the solar array.  
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Zoning Regulations for M-2 General Manufacturing District Related to the Solar Array Only 
Minimum Lot Area  1 Acre Required 24.6 Acres Provided 
Accessory Structure Height 15 Foot Max Allowed Height 10.57 Feet Proposed 
Front Yard Setback 30 Feet Required Approx. 180 Feet Proposed 
Interior Side Yard Setback  20 Feet Required Approx. 77 Feet Proposed (West) 
Interior Side Yard Setback 20 Feet Required Approx. 297 Feet Proposed (East) 
Rear Yard Setback 20 Feet Required Approx. 142 Feet Proposed 
Lot Coverage 85% Max Allowed 20.5% Presented 
Access Road Surface 
Material 

Dust free hard surface such 
as asphalt or concrete 

 
¾” Stone Size Limestone Material* 

*Variance being requested for the emergency access road surface material. 
 
As shown in the table above, all bulk regulations are in compliance between the proposed project and 
the Crest Hill Zoning Ordinance. Note, the solar array may have to move slightly based on final 
engineering review when comparing stormwater drainage patterns. Any slight adjustment will still 
conform to all setbacks and the maximum location adjustment will be no more than 10 feet. Also, the 
surface material of the access road is the requested Variance.   
 
Fencing Regulations – Section 8.3-9.1.b of the Zoning Ordinance allows for fencing up to eight feet 
in height for non-residential zoned properties. The Applicant is proposing a six-foot-tall chain link fence 
with the addition of a one-foot barbed wire atop of the chain-link fence for a total height of seven feet. 
There are no restrictions on adding barbed wire to fencing in non-residential zoning districts. As such, 
the proposed fencing is in compliance with the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
Emergency Access Road Paving Material With Solar Array Project Area  – As mentioned above, 
the Applicant is requesting a variance for Zoning Ordinance Code Section 11.6-1 as all parking, drive 
and loading areas needs to be improved with asphalt, concrete or similar materials. In addition to this 
being an access road for emergency vehicles only, there is a known flood zone south of the subject 
property. The property with the flood zone is owned by ComEd.  
 
Reducing the amount of impervious surface on this site will assist with drainage efforts for the area to 
the south. Additionally, according to the Will County Stormwater Ordinance, solar panels are exempt 
from site runoff storage requirements provided certain criteria are met (See the Stormwater Report in 
Attachment B for reference). According to the Stormwater Report all criteria for this proposed solar 
array have been met. Therefore, maintaining an access road with a subgrade fabric and a ¾” stone 
size limestone gravel material, in addition to the lack of impervious surfaces from the solar array, will 
cumulatively assist with drainage and reduce the need for additional stormwater detention facilities.  
 
Existing Driveways and Loading Area– Since the Plat of Survey shows the driveway entrance from 
Caton Farm Road leading to the accessory building improved with a gravel surface, staff has worked 
with the Applicant to transition this surface from a gravel material to a dust free hard surface which will 
bring this portion of the property into conformity with the Zoning Ordinance. This particular improvement 
is less than 25,000 square feet which will not require stormwater detention requirements.  A condition 
has been added to the staff recommendation regarding this matter.  
 
Additionally, the driveway entrance on the eastern lot with the PIN of 11-04-33-100-003-0000 
measures approximately 45 feet at the property line. Per City Code Section 15.04.040(I)(8), the 
maximum driveway width allowed is 30’. As such, another deviation/variation is being requested to 
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allow for a 45-foot-wide driveway. The Applicant plans to resurface all parking lot and drive aisle areas 
in the near future so it is prudent to request this City Code deviation now to assist the Applicant with 
these future improvements. 
 
Live Planting Requirement Section – City Code Section 15.04.040(I)(2)(b)(2) states that 1 approved 
planting per 725 square feet of improved land area is required which results in a minimum of 313 
plantings required for this site.  The proposed landscape plan shows that 313 plantings will be provided 
with 99 live plantings and trees are already improved on site, and 216 live plantings are being added 
to the improved area. The number of live plantings complies with this code section.  
  
Comprehensive Plan – The 2014 Crest Hill Comprehensive Plan is a land use guide to ensure logical 
and orderly growth of the community. With this notion, this document was reviewed in comparison to 
this project to ensure that this guide is being followed. That analysis is discussed below in more detail.  
 
The City’s 2014 Comprehensive Plan assigns this property as Light Industrial on the Future Land Use 
Map.  Light Industrial is further defined within this document stating, “Industrial uses include activities 
related to the manufacturing, fabrication, storage, and assembly of a variety of goods and materials. 
Industrial uses in Crest Hill vary greatly in terms of external impacts and relationship to surrounding 
development. In some cases, large industrial areas are separated by major streets or open spaces”.  
 
Since the property is already improved with a manufacturing use and the Applicant is preparing to add 
a solar array to help power this facility, the proposed improvement is in-line with the Crest Hill 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Additionally, under the Development Improvement Considerations section (pages 50-51), the following 
item was also stated about enhancements made to the industrial properties, “New infrastructure should 
be designed to provide flexibility for future expansions and retrofits, especially in Crest Hill’s potential 
industrial growth areas. This will allow the City to evolve its systems to respond to emerging 
technologies and services in an effort to remain competitive for long-term economic development.” 
 
This recommendation establishes the notion of modernizing facilities with emerging utility technology 
that can assist our business community with new energy sources and provide an economic benefit 
which results in a more competitive advantage. The proposed solar array will generate enough power 
to fulfill all of Hendrickson USA’s operations thereby allowing this local employer to maintain operations 
with a cost-effective alternative power source. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the Plan Commission approve of the requested Special Use and the Variances. 
Should the Plan Commission recommend approval to the City Council, then the following conditions 
shall be considered as part of the recommendation:  
 
Conditions of Approval: 
 

1. That the drawings submitted for a building permit shall be in substantial compliance with the 
drawings approved by City Council and identified below, unless otherwise noted in the 
remaining conditions: 
o Solar Ground Mount System Plans Engineered by PurePower Engineering last dated 

3/28/2025 
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o Stormwater Management Permit Details Prepared by Hey and Associates Inc. Last Dated 
April 15, 2025 

o Structural Detail Drawings Created by DCE Solar Sheets 1 through 5 Last Dated 3/6/2025 
o Landscape Plans Created by Hey and Associates Inc. Last Dated 3/31/2025 
 

2. The gravel driveway and loading area in the front of the accessory building on the property with 
the Permanent Index Number of 11-04-33-100-002-0000 shall receive a permit to transition 
this surface material to an approved surface material to be in compliance with Zoning 
Ordinance Section 11.6-1 and follow applicable construction standards. This specific area 
includes the driveway entrance from Caton Farm Road leading to the accessory building as 
well as to the gates of the solar array area. This permit shall be issued before May 19, 2026.  
 

3. The emergency access road containing the 3/4” limestone surface material shall be improved 
with a base material and construction method approved by the City Engineer. All details of the 
materials and construction methods shall be submitted with the building permit application for 
the solar array. 
 

4. The thickness of stone for the temporary construction access road should be at least two inches 
thick. 
 

5. Prior to permit issuance for the solar array the structural calculations report provided with 
through submittal will need to be signed and stamped by a Licensed Structural Engineer. 

 
6. A Fire Truck Turning Performance Analysis shall be provided for review and approval as part 

of the building permit application submittal for the solar array. 
 

7. If any new outdoor lighting is being proposed with this project, then a Photometric Plan shall 
be provided at time of submitting a building permit application to ensure compliance with 
applicable codes and regulations. 
 

8. All required final design drawings and related supporting project information shall be submitted 
for final engineering review and approval in conjunction with the formal building permit 
application submitted for the solar array.  
 

9. All new shade trees, ornamental trees, and evergreen trees proposed on north of the solar 
array shall be planted with a minimum height of six feet and a minimum of 2.5” caliber at time 
of planting.  
 

10. All conditions made with this Ordinance shall be transferred to any new property owner. 
 
Attachments:  
Attachment A – Plan Commission Application 
Attachment B – Application Submittals and Drawings 
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March 31, 2025 

Special Use Permit Request for  
Ground Mounted Solar PV at 

501 Caton Farm Road 
Crest Hill, IL 60441 

 

 

To Whom It May Concern, 

Verde Solutions is partnering with Hendrickson USA to develop a 4.8-acre ground mounted solar PV system at their 
facility located at 501 Caton Farm Road. The 12-acre field is owned by Hendrickson. Verde Solutions has over 10 
years of experience in the solar industry, specializing in Illinois with our office located in Chicago. 

 
Nearmap Imagery Taken October 10, 2024 

Design and Intent 

The system consists of (1,992) solar modules, equating to 1.185 MW DC capacity, and is intended to offset 
approximately 100% of Hendrickson’s annual electric consumption. The panels are fixed at a 30-degree tilt to the 
south and arranged into nine rows. The array is enclosed with a fence and is setback approximately 180 feet south 
of Caton Farm Road. The solar system interconnects to Hendrickson’s electrical infrastructure to supply their 
electrical needs behind the utility meter. The project received ComEd’s interconnection and net metering approval 

Proposed 
Solar Array 

Hendrickson 
Building 
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March 7, 2025. All proposed solar equipment complies with the 2020 National Electric Code and City of Crest Hill 
ordinances. The inverters and utility AC disconnect are to be fenced in and located near their existing utility 
transformer on the west side of the main building. 

Site Improvements 

The proposed developed area of 4.8 acres will comply with the City’s Building Ordinance Chapter 15. The 
landscaping plan includes (216) new trees and shrubs. Much of the proposed landscaping will screen the array 
from Caton Farm Road. The ground under the array will be covered with a native seed mix and include an erosion 
control blanket. The stormwater report describes how the ground mounted solar will affect the current drainage 
plan. It was determined that site runoff storage is not required for this project. 

The fence is 6 feet tall chain link style with 1 foot of barbed wire. There is a 16-foot-wide vehicle access gate located 
at the northeast corner of the array. 

Upon discussion with the City and Lockport Fire Protection District (LFPD), a gravel access path will be provided 
around the perimeter of the array within the fence to be used for emergency access. The gravel will be ¾” 
limestone loosely compacted. A variance is requested to accommodate this, as the path will be used for 
emergencies. Adequate turn clearance is provided per the Pierce Turning Performance Analysis provided by LFPD. 

Operations and Maintenance 

Once the solar system is installed, there is very little maintenance required. The solar system is fully static and 
rarely requires hands-on troubleshooting after energization. We offer maintenance packages custom to the client 
but a small percentage of our clients choose to do so. We recommend it is not necessary in the first five years of 
operation because adequate IL rainfall and the tilt of the modules naturally minimize dust and debris accumulation.  

Maintenance and operations are primarily supported by the remote monitoring system, which alerts us and the 
client of any potential system faults. Most of these faults occur during system testing and commissioning, so our 
installers are still on site to address them. If a fault arises after we leave the site, we will first detect it remotely 
and work to resolve it. Should the issue require on-site attention, we will send 1-2 team members to troubleshoot. 
It usually takes a few hours to half a day.  

The equipment has long warranties: Modules - 30 year performance, inverters - 20 year extended, and racking - 
20 years.  

If the client opts for our standard Verde Maintenance & Operations plan, we will perform a site visit once a year 
for one day, typically involving a visual inspection and documentation (1-2 people). If the plan is not selected, the 
system will remain hands-off. 

Decommissioning Plan 

While a decommissioning plan is not included in the active and current EPC contract with Hendrickson, we will 
offer to do so at the client’s request when the time comes. As an industry standard, the expected useful life of the 
solar system is 30 years. The solar panels are warrantied against a 0.5% production degradation each year. By year 



 

 

30, the solar panels will be producing 85% of their original output. The solar system will continue to produce long 
after that, and it would be up to the client to decide to leave the system as is, upgrade to newer technology, or 
explore system removal.  

During system removal, Verde would remove all of the tangible property relating to the solar system. The land 
would be restored to its original condition with the exception of buried conduits. 

Verde Solutions would use Com2 Recycling Solutions for the Removal and Decommissioning of the dated solar 
panels. Com2 Recycling Solutions is an R2 Certified recycling company located in Chicagoland which complies with 
all rules and regulations relative to the recycling of solar panels and inverters. The Certificate of Recycling (COR) 
would be issued once fully recycled. 

About Verde Solutions 

Verde Solutions, founded in 2012 by Christopher Gersch, is a leader in energy efficiency and sustainability 
solutions. With over 2,600 completed projects across 48 states, we bring proven expertise in energy reduction and 
generation solutions for commercial, industrial, educational, and municipal projects. We have consistently 
demonstrated growth and leadership, earning recognition on the INC 5000 list multiple times and inclusion in Solar 
Power World’s top commercial solar contractors in 2024. Our extensive experience with educational institutions 
and municipalities ensures that we are well-equipped to deliver a successful project. Notable similar projects that 
we have completed include a 777kW-DC ground mount for the Minooka Wastewater Treatment plant, a 1.2 MW 
ground mount at a gravel pit in Lakemoor, a combo rooftop and ground mount for a commercial client in St. 
Charles, and a 2MW rooftop and ground mount for the College of Lake County. 

Further Discussion 

The City identified a wetland on the neighboring parcel to the south (ComEd, 11-04-33-100-006-0000). The 
wetland firm is unable to complete a full delineation until ground conditions are favorable in May. Due to the IL 
Shines solar incentive block closing on June 1, 2025, which requires Special Use Permit approval, it was mutually 
agreed with the City that, following the wetland delineation results, the solar array will be adjusted if necessary to 
avoid negatively impacting the current drainage to the wetland. However, given the wetland is not in close 
proximity to the array, Verde does not anticipate the array moving much, if at all. The official wetland delineation 
will be promptly shared with the City and the impact to the array will be identified. The IL Shines solar incentive is 
lucrative and essential to the progress of this project. 

Given our vast experience with solar ground mounts and Greater Chicagoland municipalities, we consider the 
landscaping and fire protection requirements to be above and beyond what other municipalities have required 
for parcels without neighboring residential zones. However, we fully understand that this project is subject to 
Crest Hill’s approval and are eager to coordinate a successful solar system with the City. 

 

 



 

 

 

We thank you for your consideration of this project and look forward to continuing discussions. 

 

Regards, 

Grace Rasmussen, Verde Solutions 
Project Engineer 
grasmussen@verdesolutions.com 
312-268-2025 
 

Site Plan Documents included in submission: 

1. ALTA Survey 
2. Electrical Construction Set – Site Plan, Equipment Elevations, Single Line Diagram, NEC Labels 
3. Racking Construction Set 
4. Racking Structural Calculations 
5. Landscaping Plan 
6. Stormwater Report 

 

mailto:grasmussen@verdesolutions.com
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INTRODUCTION 

Hey and Associates, Inc. (Hey) was retained by Verde Solutions to prepare permit documentation 

as part of the Solar Ground Mount System at Hendrickson USA project (Project). The site is 

located in the City of Crest Hill, Will County, Illinois. The project is further located in Section 33 

of Township 36 North, Range 10 East in Lockport Township. See Exhibit 1 for an overall project 

location map.  

The project includes the installation of solar panels on a grass field to provide energy for the 

manufacturing facility on site. Some existing trees will be removed to avoid interference with the 

solar panel performance. The area under the solar panels will be seeded with a pollinator habitat 

seed mix, and a variety trees and shrubs will be planted as well.  

SITE RUNOFF AND SITE RUNOFF STORAGE 

The site generally drains towards the southeast. After leaving the site boundaries, the drainage 

pattern continues towards the southwest into a swale along the north of the railroad. The swale 

then joins with a channel that flows towards the east and eventually empties into the Des Plaines 

River. This drainage pattern will be maintained in the proposed conditions.  The drainage plan for 

the site is included as Exhibit 2.  

According to section 55.020.C.3 of the Will County Code of Ordinances, solar farm developments 

are exempt from site runoff storage provided the following criteria are met: 

a) Groundcover vegetation is maintained in good condition 

b) The total proposed impervious area is less than 25,000 square feet 

c) The open space between the panels are equal or greater than the panel width 

d) The runoff will sheet flow through the site with a slope of less than 5 percent 

These criteria are met, as described in the sections below, and therefore site runoff storage is 

not required for this project. Additionally, the following sections illustrate compliance with 

sections 15.20.030 and 15.20.070 from the Crest Hill Code of Ordinances.  
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GROUNDCOVER VEGETATION

The entire area under the proposed solar panels will be seeded with a native seed mix. The seed 

mix and location is described in the landscaping plan sheets, which are included in Appendix A.

The proposed groundcover vegetation will be maintained in good condition by the owner.

IMPERVIOUS AREAS

No  impervious  area  is  proposed on  the  site.  An  access  road  constructed of  loosely  compacted 

3/4"  gravel  is  proposed  around  the  solar  panels.  However,  loosely  compacted  gravel  is  not 

considered impervious by the City of Crest Hill and so is not counted as proposed impervious 

area.

SOLAR PANEL SPACING AND SHEET FLOW

The solar panels have a width of 12.97 feet, and each row of panels will be installed with a 19.17 

foot space between them, meeting the requirement that the open space must be wider than the 

solar panels. The panels will be at a 30-degree angle, so runoff will sheet flow onto the ground.

The slope of the ground underneath the panels varies, with the northwestern area containing a 

generally steeper slope that becomes more gradual at the southeast corner. The average ground 

slope is approximately 2.15% underneath the panels, which is within the ordinance guidelines.

SEDIMENT AND EROSION CONTROL

The seeding mix proposed for the solar panel area will be installed with erosion control blanket 

to protect against erosion and promote seed establishment and growth. Additionally, a total of 

216 trees and shrubs are to be planted on site in accordance with section 15.04.040 of the Crest 

Hill Ordinance. These plantings will provide further permanent erosion control on site.

SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREAS

There is no floodway or floodplain on site, as shown in Exhibit 3. There are also no wetlands on 

site.
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Who is Hendrickson?

Hendrickson is a leading global 

manufacturer and supplier of medium- and 

heavy-duty mechanical, elastomeric and air 

suspensions; integrated and non-

integrated axle and brake systems; tire 

pressure control systems; auxiliary lift axle 

systems; parabolic and multi-leaf springs; 

stabilizers; bumpers and components to 

the global commercial transportation 

industry.  
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Hendrickson Overview

▪ Hendrickson is family owned (privately held) by Boler 

Company

• Boler HQ – Schaumburg, IL

▪ 6,000+ global employees

▪ 30+ locations globally

• Hendrickson HQ – Woodridge, IL

▪ 6 unique brand names
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Hendrickson Bumper

▪ Locations in Crest Hill, IL & Dayton, OH
• 150,000 sq ft of facilities

• 2 shift operations | ~100 employees

▪ Hendrickson acquired Crest Hill facility in 1977

▪ Functional teams on-site
• Operations, Engineering, Quality, Marketing, HR, 

Accounting, Purchasing & Customer Service

▪ Tier 1 supplier to all major commercial vehicle 
OEMs
• Annual metal bumper production 100k+

▪ Core values
• Safety, Quality & Innovation

▪ Certifications
• IATF16949:2022 (Quality)

• ISO14001:2015 (Environmental)

• VPP Star Certified (Safety)

• Great Place to Work® Certified (Culture)
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▪ Blanking
• Fiber laser

▪ Forming
• Press brake

• 4-sided straight press

• Compression forming

• Channel press

• End form press

• ADFP (AERO Dynamic Forming Press)

• High tonnage, deep-draw press

▪ Fabrication
• Robotic welding

• TIG welders

• MIG welders

▪ Assembly
• Ship to sequence

• Intelligent tooling with integrated 
feedback

▪ In-House Tool & Die Room

Manufacturing Capabilities
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Hendrickson Bumper’s Customers
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▪ Over last 5 years, heavy truck manufacturers 
place higher sustainability requirements on 
suppliers for new business
• Volvo and Daimler leading the industry with 

sustainability requirements

▪ Customers require roadmap to carbon 
neutral

▪ While Hendrickson is leading the bumper 
industry in sustainability, Customers 
required more for new business

▪ Hendrickson Bumper’s largest opportunity 
toward carbon neutral is renewable electricity

Heavy Truck Sustainability
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Business Growth

Hendrickson Bumper pursued 5-year major 
investment plan in 2022

Hendrickson Bumper received Board of Director 
approval to invest in solar field to provide 100% 
electricity thru renewable energy

As a result of Board’s investment commitment, 
Hendrickson Bumper captured ~50% growth starting 
in 2026
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▪ High tonnage deep draw press (completed 2022)

▪ Building expansion 12,000 sq ft (completed 2024)

▪ High-speed fiber laser (completed 2025)

▪ 2nd high tonnage deep draw press (Q3 2025)

▪ High-speed robotic buffing (Q3 2025)

▪ Solar field (Q3 2025)

Capability & Sustainability  Investment

All investments not only increases capabilities for 

growth but also increase our sustainability
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▪ Hendrickson team sent RFQs to 4 Chicagoland 
commercial solar companies

▪ Requirements:
• Engineering and installation with same company

• Located within 100 miles

• Locally demonstrated performance and references

• Incentive assistance

• Subject matter knowledge

▪ Verde Solutions ranked highest in all categories and 
was selected

Solar Selection Process
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▪ Business case presented to Board of Directors 

• Challenged timing

• Federal incentives requires system to power on in 2025

• State incentives require permit approval by June 1, 2025

▪ Balance of new business, payback, ROI, timing are 

critical

Solar Business Case
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▪ Hendrickson is advancing manufacturing technology 

and sustainability

▪ Hendrickson is dedicated to investing in Crest Hill 

facility for long-term

▪ Hendrickson is increasing manufacturing and 

technology jobs

▪ Hendrickson’s advancement in sustainability will 

enable future growth

Summary
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 Hendrickson USA 
Ground Mounted Solar PV
Special Use Permit Request

April 24, 2025



About Verde Solutions
Verde Solutions develops comprehensive energy solutions that benefit 
our clients and the communities we serve. 

• Founded in 2012, Chicago Headquarters
• Provide solutions that result in significant savings
• Proven track record of success (2000+ energy efficiency projects in 48 

states)
• NABCEP Certified and OSHA Certified Staff
• Turn-key project delivery

• Comprehensive analysis 
• On-time installations – self performed
• High quality products & service
• Hassle free rebate and incentive management



Similarly Completed Projects
Thelen Sand & Gravel – Lakemoor, IL Minooka Wastewater Treatment Plant – Minooka, IL

College of Lake County – Grayslake, IL



Plat of Survey



Current Site

Point A

Nearmap Imagery taken October 10, 2024. Site has since been cleared of trees in solar array area.



Current Site

Looking West from Gate (Point A) Looking North from Gate (Point A)

Caton Farm Rd



Wetland Study

https://gisapp.willcountyillinois.com/Html5Viewer/Index.html?viewer=Data_Viewer 

• Hey & Associates performed the field portion of Wetland Study April 22, 2025
• Solar array location is contingent on Final Wetland Study Results

https://gisapp.willcountyillinois.com/Html5Viewer/Index.html?viewer=Data_Viewer


Proposed Design

DC System Size: 

 
AC System Size:  

System Output:

Consumption 
Offset:

1,186.7 kW-DC 
(1,992 modules)

900 kW-AC

1,543,769 kWh

100%

System Overview

Nearmap Imagery taken October 10, 2024



Site Details: Overall Electrical Plan



Site Details: Array Layout



Site Details: Racking Detail



Site Details: Typical Fence



Site Details: Drainage Plan
Average ground slope is 2.15% under solar array



Site Details: Landscaping



Site Details: Landscaping



Site Details: Landscaping
Trees Shrub

s



Site Details: Landscaping
(216) new plantings



Site Details: Landscaping
Seed Mixes



Site Details: Plant Schedule



Site Details: Plant Schedule



Site Details: Gravel Access Path
Perimeter Emergency Access Road – ¾” limestone gravel loosely compacted with 
subgrade fabric



Questions?
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